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Transmission projects energized
in FY 2025

BPA energizes hundreds of projects each
year, ranging from meter installations

to entire substations. In FY 25,

BPA energized 277 projects.
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Longhorn Substation: Energized in April, Longhorn Substation will
allow up to 2,500 MW of new generating resources to connect to the
grid, setting the stage for years of growth in northeastern Oregon

and beyond. The new substation enhances regional connectivity and

\

a 70-year-old asset to improve
grid resilience and support the
nearby Columbia Generating

Station nuclear plant.
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Major projects under or nearing
construction

BPA’s capital portfolio includes more
than 170 projects that are currently
under construction, with hundreds
more in planning, scoping and design.

Vancouver Control Center BPA broke

ground on the new Vancouver Control

Center in January. When fully inte-
j grated into our system in 2031, it will
N usher in a new era of grid visibility and
control for BPA. The new facility will
meet the agency’s evolving technology,
continuity, safety and security needs.
Designed with public safety in mind,
the control center will support BPA's
ability to respond to and recover from
disruptive events.

Six Mile 500-kV Substation This new substation in Oregon, expect-
ed to be energized in June 2027, will enable the interconnection of
large industrial data center loads.

Pearl-Sherwood-McLoughlin
transmission line upgrade This
project adds two 230-KV circuits
between BPA’s Pearl Substation and
Portland General Electric’s Sherwood
Substation. Scheduled for completion
in May 2026, this project will enable
the interconnection of large industrial
data centers and semiconductor
manufacturing facilities in the Hillsboro,
Oregon area.

Pahsades
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Boardman-to-Hemingway transmission line terminus BPA is
adding equipment to its new Longhorn Substation, which will serve as
the northern terminus of the 300-mile Boardman-to-Hemingway line
constructed by Idaho Power and PacifiCorp. Energization is planned
for 2028.
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About

The Bonneville Power Administration is a nonprofit federal power marketing

administration based in the Pacific Northwest. Although BPA is part of
the U.S. Department of Energy, it is self-funding and covers its costs by
selling its products and services. BPA markets wholesale electrical power
from 31 federal hydroelectric dams in the Northwest, one nonfederal
nuclear plant and several small nonfederal power plants. The dams are
operated by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and the Bureau of
Reclamation. The nonfederal nuclear plant, Columbia Generating Station,
is owned and operated by Energy Northwest, a joint operating agency
of the state of Washington.

BPA provides about one-third of the electric power generated in the —|_ A B |_ E O |:

Northwest, primarily from reliable, dispatchable and flexible hydroelectric

resources. BPA also operates and maintains more than 15,000 circuit

miles of high-voltage transmission in its service territory. BPA's territory A . —|_ E N
includes Idaho, Oregon, Washington, western Montana and small parts =

of eastern Montana, California, Nevada, Utah and Wyoming.

(o

BPA promotes energy conservation and innovative technologies that
improve its ability to deliver on its mission. To mitigate the impacts of the
federal dams, BPA implements a fish and wildlife program that includes
working with its partners to make the federal dams safer for fish passage.

BPA is committed to public service and seeks to make decisions in a
manner that provides opportunities for input from all interested parties.
In its vision statement, BPA dedicates itself to providing high system
reliability, low rates consistent with sound business principles, environ-
mental stewardship and accountability.

GOAL RESULT

Net Revenues > $70 million $74 millic

IPR Cost Expenditure < $2.23 billion $2.2 hillion “’-"‘
Days Cash On Hand > 60 days -

Capital Expenditures $983 million to $1.26-billion

Debt-To-Asset Ratio (short term) < 80.4% .

Available U.S. Treasury Borrowing Authority > $1.5 billion over 20 years

CREDIT RATINGS ON BPA-BACKED NONFEDERAL BONDS .
MOODY’S: Aa2 FITCH: AA  S&P GLOBAL: AA- - T
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ADMINTSTRATOR

Affordable, abundant and reliable

The Bonneville Power Administration has an enduring mission to power the lives

and livelihoods of people across the Pacific Northwest. The low-cost, abundant electric
power and transmission services Bonneville has reliably delivered since 1937 are
essential to public safety, national security and economic prosperity. We proudly upheld
these responsibilities in fiscal year 2025.

With decades of institutional knowledge and the immensely
specialized skillset of our workforce, BPA maintained highly i
reliable service and optimized hydropower generation BPA mveSt,ed

despite unfavorable conditions in the Columbia River Basin. d record-h|gh of

We invested more than $1 billion in capital projects to $1.08 billion in
strengthen the region’s power and transmission systems, capital in FY 2025,
and took steps to build faster and keep pace with growing Strengthening

energy demand. We advanced the development of new the Northwest’s
energy markets to enhance cost-effective, reliable service;

and we finalized new long-term power sales contracts Supply of IOW_COSt’
with our regional utility customers, providing power supply reliable and

certainty to our utility customers for nearly another secure energy and
two decades. transmission.

We did all of this and more while maintaining our strategic
focus on sustaining Bonneville’s financial strength.

o — 2025 ANNUAL REPORT - 5




SUSTAINING

financial strength

BPA’s financial strength is central to
fulfilling our role as an engine of the
Northwest’s economic prosperity.

Accordingly, we operate under a Financial Plan with associated
policies and tools to guide decision-making and help us
maintain stable, competitive power and transmission rates over
the long term; and we establish annual targets to gauge our
progress.

| am proud to share that we achieved all our agency-level
financial targets in FY 2025, despite another challenging water
year.

A key objective of the Financial Plan is to maintain financial
resilience, which is essential to managing the inherent volatility
of energy and transmission operations. In good water years, for
example, the FCRPS often produces more than enough energy
to fulfill our power sales obligations, and revenues from surplus
power sales help offset our costs and keep power rates low. In
poor water years, BPA more often turns to energy markets to
supplement the output of the FCRPS, which impacts financial
reserves.

Runoff in the Columbia River Basin was 80% of normal, making
it the third year in a row of well-below average runoff. By early
June, most of the snowpack in the U.S. portion of the Columbia
River Basin had already melted, increasing the need for market
purchases throughout the summer. Power purchase costs
exceeded the forecast by $527.5 million for the year.

In the face of these growing expenses, BPA took a series of
strategic debt-management actions to increase liquidity. These
actions contributed to positive agency net revenues of $73.8
million, exceeding the target of $70.4 million.

- |
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We also achieved our cost-management objective; maintained
high investment-grade credit ratings on BPA-backed bonds;
and continued to reduce BPA's debt-to-asset ratio, which
measures total debt compared to the value of our revenue-gen-
erating assets. Additionally, we ended the year with substantial
U.S. Treasury borrowing authority and made our annual U.S.
Treasury payment on time and in full, demonstrating our com-
mitment to meeting all the agency’s financial obligations. This
year’s Treasury payment exceeded $1.2 billion.

BPA ended the year with sufficient operating liquidity, exceed-
ing our target of maintaining at least 60 days cash on hand

for the agency. Power Services financial reserves, however,
have been strained by three years of below-average water and
significantly higher-than-expected power purchase expenses.
Power ended the year below our goal of maintaining at least 60
days cash on hand for each business unit. This triggered the
rate-adjustment mechanism included in our Financial Reserves
Policy known as the FRP surcharge.

The preliminary Power surcharge amount, to be applied in FY
2026, would increase the average wholesale power rate by
2.2%, rebuilding Power financial reserves by $40 million over
the course of the year. The administrator will issue the final
surcharge amount and rate in December, following a public
review and comment on the preliminary data.

Despite the short-term decline in liquidity, BPA remains
well-positioned to sustain financial strength over the long term.
As we plan for the future and prepare for large-scale invest-
ments in the region’s power and transmission assets, BPA is
considering opportunities to enhance our financial policies and
tools. In FY 2026-2027, BPA will lead a review of our Financial
Plan to ensure appropriate risk mitigation and alignment with
our agency strategy execution. This review will leverage our
experience navigating three consecutive poor water years and
its strain on the agency’s financial resilience.




BPA does not receive
taxpayer funding

As a self-funded power
marking administration,
BPA pays its way by selling
power and transmission
services. We sell firm power
to regional utilities at
cost-based wholesale
rates, which help keep
prices low for Northwest
energy consumers.

BPA has redeployed $1.2 billion in
financial reserves since 2019.

BPA’s Financial Reserves Policy includes an
option called the reserves distribution clause
to redistribute reserves that exceed the
predefined upper threshold. The RDC has
triggered numerous times since 2019, leading
BPA to redeploy $1.2 billion in power

and transmission reserves to other high value
purposes, such as rate and debt reduction.

The FRP surcharge, on the other hand,
triggered once in October 2019 for application
to FY 2020 power rates. However, after
hearing customers’ concerns, BPA launched
an expedited rate process to suspend the
surcharge for the remainder of the rate period
due to the possibility of economic hardships
utilities could face during the COVID-19
pandemic.

st
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NEW RATES %

balance affordability and
abundance

After a decade of holding rate increases at

or below inflation, BPA led settlement dis- DID YOU KNOW?

cussions that resulted in widely supported

agreements to increase power and trans- BPA power rates provide customers with

mission rates for the BP-26 rate period, stability and guard against market volatility.
covering fiscal years 2026 through 2028.

i.,',.f

BPA markets firm power to regional public body and electric

The settlement agreements balanced the need to keep rates cooperative utilities in the Pacific Northwes’F known as

low and stable while supporting power and transmission “preference customers” because they are entitled to statutory

system investments to meet customer load growth and connect preference in the purchase of federal power.

new generation. R
Preference customers purchase power at the Priority Firm

The average effective increase for the Priority Firm Tier 1 Tier 1 rate for most or all of their loads. The PF rate is set

pOwer rat,e’ which represents m,os,t of BPA,S power sales, is for the duration of the rate period, typically two years,

8.9%; while the average transmission rate increase across all e i .

products is 19.9% providing tremendous cost certainty and rate stability for the

region’s utilities.
Even with these increases, BPA continues to maintain highly =
competitive rates in the Pacific Northwest while offering = Energy sold in the wholesale spot market, on the other hand,

highly reliable service. is not cost-based and prices can be volatile, especially
during times of high demand and low supply. During a cold
spell in FY 2024, for example, regional day-ahead market
prices approached $1,000 per megawatt-hour. In comparison,
BPA’s average PF Tier 1 power rate for fiscal years

2024 and 2025 was stable at $34.69/MWh. BPA’s Financial
Plan and Financial Reserves Policy provide safeguards to
ensure wholesale market cost exposure minimizes customer
rate impacts.

Within a rate period, BPA can only adjust rates under very
limited and specific conditions — one of which is the
Financial Reserves Policy surcharge.

8~ BONNEVILLE-POWER ADM
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NEW POWER
CONTRACTS

lock in long-term certainty

With current long-term power sales
contracts expiring in 2028, BPA worked
closely with customers over several years

in a process called Provider of Choice to R E |_ | A B |_ E
develop the next generation power sales
policy and contracts. P O \/\/ E R

After an iterative effort in FY 2025 to finalize contract templates

and fine-tune policy decisions, BPA extended formal contract
offers that will serve 134 utilities in the region. We expect to S E R \/ | C E
execute all contracts by Dec. 31, 2025, with power deliveries
beginning Oct. 1, 2028. . . iy
in unpredictable conditions
revenue. By locking in these commitments through 2044, the

new contracts will support regional economic stability and help Power Services made the most of a

ensure a more reliable and affordable power supply for our Cha||enging water year. With most snow
customers and the end users they serve. inthe U.S. portion of the Columbia Basin
having already melted by June, Power staff
supplemented the output of the FCRPS
with power purchased from the market
through the summer.

Long-term power contracts are BPA's largest source of

But with extensive coordination, tremendous skill and deep
knowledge of the system, our power forecasters, planners

and marketers maximized flexible operations. By shaping the
highest flows into the warmest days, they set the system up to
meet peak loads and serve our customers in the most econom-
ical way — all while meeting the non-power constraints of the
FCRPS. Operating within these constraints ensured the region
continued to benefit from the federal dams’ other purposes, like
irrigation and navigation.

Water supply in the
Columbia River Basin was
80% of normal in FY 2025, additional generating capacity during the summer to meet

making it the third consecutive year [
of well-below average runoff.

This year, the region also benefited from a fish operations plan
that included reduced spill beginning Aug. 1. This provided

2025 ANNUAL REPORT - 9



SAVING
BILLIONS

for ratepayers

BPA’s energy conservation program
helps maximize the value of the FCRPS
and reduces BPA’s need to acquire other,
potentially more expensive resources.

In partnership with our utility customers, BPA acquired con-
servation in all areas of the Northwest's economy. Examples
include efficiencies in industrial processes, advancements in
residential heating and cooling, and irrigation measures that
reduce the use of energy and water for agriculture.

In total, we achieved nearly 59 average megawatts of energy
savings in FY 2025. Since the passage of the 1980 Pacific
Northwest Electric Power Planning and Conservation Act, BPA
has acquired 2,593 aMW of energy savings, enough energy to
fuel 1.9 million homes for a year, and delivered an estimated
$2.3 hillion in annual ratepayer savings.

Ratepayers are saving roughly
$2.3 billion a year thanks to
the energy conservation efforts
of BPA and its utility customers.




MAXIMIZING

energy abundance

The Federal Columbia River Power System
is in an era of modernization.

BPA and its federal generating partners — the U.S. Army Corps
of Engineers and Bureau of Reclamation — have identified a
portfolio of projects over a 20-year period to improve reliability,
increase efficiency and expand the capacity of the hydropower
system. Based on the current portfolio, the potential capacity
increase across the FCRPS is more than 800 MW.

In FY 2025, we deployed $261.8 million in power direct capital,
an increase of $15.9 million over the prior year.

Current projects include installing a sixth generating unit at
Libby Dam in Montana. We expect to put this 120 MW unit into
service in March 2027. We are also working on the design for
an additional 300 MW unit at Dworshak Dam in Idaho. Several
units, including Ice Harbor, McNary and John Day, are getting
new, more efficient turbines. Efficiency projects such as these
can be even more beneficial than capacity increases, especially
when water is scarce, because they allow units to generate
more energy with the same amount of water.

The region’s only nuclear plant is also getting an upgrade. BPA
is partnering with the Columbia Generating Station’s owner
and operator, Energy Northwest, to increase the capacity of the
1,200 MW plant by roughly 160 MW. That’s enough firm
capacity to power about 125,000 homes. Construction will occur
during Columbia’s prescheduled biennial refueling outages and
will be complete in 2031.

These and many other cost-effective upgrade projects are
strengthening the Northwest’s supply of affordable, reliable and
secure energy.

“HF
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With a capacity of about 1,200 MW, the Columbia Generating Station
nuclear plant is the region’s third largest generating resource behind
Grand Coulee and Chief Joseph dams. The additional capacity
provided by the uprate project will be enough to power approximately
125,000 homes.
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the lights on

A winter bomb cyclone brought high winds
and pelting rain, knocking down trees
throughout western Washington. During
the summer, high temperatures strained
parts of the grid east of the Cascades, and
wildland fires burned more than 350,000
acres across BPA's vast service territory.

Despite these and other unexpected grid impacts, Transmission
Services recorded the fewest number of unplanned line
outages in 40 years. Further strengthening its record of reliable
service, teams worked together to quickly restore power
following disruptive events, with field crews responding to more
than 940 emergency calls during the year.

With a commitment to safety and continuous improvement,
Transmission Services also implemented new methods and
technology, allowing crews to perform more maintenance and
repair work in less time. The new Human External Cargo program
allows line workers to safely conduct repairs while suspended
from a helicopter, resulting in a 500% efficiency gain and
significantly reducing labor costs for hardware replacements.
BPA first deployed this program on the Schultz-Wautoma
project to replace static hardware — essential components for
lightning protection — along 64 miles of line.

A new drone program is also delivering savings and efficiencies
while keeping workers safe. BPA's quadcopters are especially
useful in areas that would be difficult or dangerous to reach the
traditional way, either on foot or by helicopter.

BPA also took steps to prevent unplanned outages from
occurring in the first place. This included a new expedited process

BPA uses a quadcopter to pull a fiber optic cable, which provides critical
communications for grid operations. This cable could not be safely replaced
with a helicopter due to the live high-voltage lines on either side.

to replace 348 aging wood poles and an expanded effort to
remove danger trees from our rights-of-way.

The continued implementation of our multilevel Wildfire
Mitigation Plan further supported BPA’s reliability in FY 2025.
The first level of our strategy includes annual aerial and ground
inspections of all 15,000 circuit miles of transmission line,

as well as our industry-leading vegetation management program
to rid our rights-of-way of potential wildfire fuel.

By maintaining a safe distance between high-growing vegetation and
high-voltage lines, BPA prevents vegetation-related outages, while also
providing breaks that aid wildland firefighting efforts.

Wildland fires burned more than 350,000 acres of BPA's
service territory in FY 2025 — far less than the more than
3 million acres that burned in FY 2024, Still, Transmission
Services responded to dozens of fire-related outages caused
by smoke or to aid safe firefighting efforts. As a last resort

to prevent wildfires and protect people and property, BPA has
a Public Safety Power Shutoff procedure to de-energize a line
under specific conditions. We did not need to take any PSPS
outages in 2025.

BPA maintains highly competitive power and transmission rates in the

Pacific Northwest while offering highly reliable service.

12 — BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION
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BPA is prioritizing grid expansion to i\ {

accommodate new generation and growing

power demand, driven largely by data centers
and other energy-intensive industries. =T

To date, we have prioritized $5 billion in high-voltage transmission
investments that will enable significant load growth and support the : e

addition of more generation within the Pacific Northwest. Combined, o8 e 0 ) B
the 23 projects in this portfolio would add more than 6,000 megawatts i :
of transmission capacity to meet future energy needs. These projects
are projected to be completed by 2035.

When including other planned projects designed to sustain our existing
assets, BPA's total projected grid investment for the next 10 years
is approximately $15 billion.

To deliver these projects on time, we need to build faster. We launched
the Grid Access Transformation Project in FY 2025 to redesign and
streamline our long-term transmission planning processes. Improving
our processes will allow us to more quickly and efficiently move projects
forward and meet the needs of our customers and the region.

Using both internal resources and a contracted approach called the
secondary capacity model, we aim to double BPA's transmission
capital execution by 2028.

In FY 2025, we deployed $773.8 million in transmission direct capital,
an increase of $24.4 million over the prior year. This reflects the
continued growth of our Secondary Capacity Model, which grew by
7% over FY 2024, for a total of $195.2 million. This contracted approach
complements the work our internal teams do to maintain and
expand the grid, allowing us to complete more projects simultaneously.

See map on pages 2—3 for a sample of transmission projects.



PROTECTING

the environment, fish and wildlife

A key step in advancing BPA’s

power and transmission projects is to
fulfill our obligations under the National
Environmental Policy Act.

In FY 2025, BPA ensured critical projects proceeded without
disruption with appropriate environmental compliance. BPA
completed a record amount of NEPA analysis, including

295 categorical exclusions for key agency projects that met
the regulatory criteria. New expedited processes are enabling
faster reviews under the National Historic Preservation Act for
routine and reoccurring work, such as wood pole replacements
and danger tree removal.

BPA also fulfills obligations under the Northwest Power Act
to protect, mitigate and enhance fish and wildlife affected by
the development and operation of the FCRPS. Under our Fish
and Wildlife program, which is funded by BPA's utility customers
through power rates, BPA aims to deliver biological results in
the most cost-effective manner.

FY 2025 Fish and Wildlife program highlights

UmaBirch floodplain restoration In partnership with the
Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, BPA

is supporting the largest floodplain restoration project in the
Umatilla River Basin. The UmaBirch project in northeast Oregon,
at the confluence of the Umatilla River and Birch Creek, is
improving conditions for mid-Columbia steelhead, listed under the
Endangered Species Act, as well as Chinook and coho salmon,
Pacific lamprey and other native fish species. By recreating

the channel and floodplain mosaic that was historically present,
and by transferring surface water rights to permanent instream
use, this project is restoring the natural hydrological processes
that sustain critical fish and wildlife habitat. In FY 2025, BPA
funded a $3.2 million conservation easement for this project.
Formerly agricultural land, the 943-acre easement will protect
the restored habitat in perpetuity.

Klickitat Hatchery Constructed in 1949, the Klickitat Hatchery
is operated by the Confederated Tribes and Bands of the
Yakama Nation to rear spring and fall Chinook and late-run
coho salmon. BPA is funding roughly $35 million in upgrades
for spring Chinook, with plans to increase juvenile production
from 600,000 to 800,000 annually. This project will allow the
Yakama Nation to integrate natural origin broodstock, which

14 — BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION

BPA-sponsored fish and wildlife accomplishments

FY 2025 ACCOMPLISHMENTS

TOTAL SINCE 2005

Improved 27,361 acres of land
for habitat

More than 900,000 acres — Nearly the
size of Olympic National Park

Protected 44,214 acres of land
for wildlife conservation

Nearly 1.5 million acres — Larger than
the Gifford Pinchot National Forest

Acquired 1,877 acres of land for
restoration and conservation

154,000 acres — Three times the size
of Seattle

Enhanced or restored 1.5 miles of

Nearly 71 miles — Longer than the

estuarine tidal channels distance from Seattle to Olympia

Acquired 63.1 billion gallons of
water rights from willing landowners
to address low stream flows for fish

900 billion gallons — More than
1.3 million Olympic-sized swimming pools

Released 5.1 million fish from

hatcheries 370 million fish

Advanced 5 new hatcheries,

with 1 nearing completion 11 hatcheries

Removed 150,388 pikeminnow
to reduce predation on young
salmon and steelhead

More than 3.5 million

Monitored 2,797 sites to evaluate

the effects of our actions More tiian S

is expected to improve the fitness, production and survival of
these salmonids. The upgraded hatchery is projected to release
6.8 million fish annually, with the first yearlings expected to be
released in May 2027.

Phase 2 Implementation Plan We continued our partnership
with the Confederated Tribes of the Colville Reservation, the
Coeur d’Alene Tribe and the Spokane Tribe of Indians through

a 20-year agreement that supports the Phase 2 Implementation
Plan. P2IP includes actions to test the feasibility of reintroducing
non-Endangered Species Act-listed salmon above Chief Joseph
and Grand Coulee dams. Under this landmark agreement,
signed in 2023, BPA is preserving the capacity and flexibility
of the Columbia River System dams and reservoirs while
supporting important research. In FY 2025, BPA, the Bureau
of Reclamation and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers completed
an environmental assessment and ESA consultations,
authorizing the studies to move forward. The first step of P2IP
includes gathering baseline data on juvenile and adult survival
and outmigration timing, using tags to monitor and track their
movement. Approximately 45,000 tagged Chinook and

11,000 tagged juvenile sockeye were released above Grand
Coulee dam in FY 25.



MARKET S+

Last May, Bonneville announced it will pursue
participation in a new day-ahead market
called Markets-+, offered by the Southwest
Power Pool. This announcement reflects years
of rigorous analysis, public engagement and

a commitment to preserving the benefits of the
Federal Columbia River Power System for
Northwest consumers.

Our analysis concluded that Markets+ is BPA’s best option for
maintaining competitive power and transmission rates over the long
term. It was also the direction that best meets our long-term strategic
business interests and is consistent with our statutory mission. One

of the factors in our policy was the independent governance structure of
Markets+, which ensures no single state or entity will have
disproportionate influence over market rules or operations. Other
benefits of Markets+ include its member-driven stakeholder process,
and market design features that best meet BPA’s and our
customers’ needs.

Markets+ is currently in an implementation stage with over 40 energy
organizations, including nine Western utilities, working to further

establish the governance structure, develop systems needed to operate
the market and conduct market trials.

Following the release of our policy direction, BPA began taking the
steps to enable participation, with the goal of entering Markets+ in
October 2028.

DID YOU KNOW?

Markets+ can lower energy costs and improve reliability

Day-ahead markets offer a means of optimizing dispatch from a larger
pool of loads and resources with the objective of lowering the cost of power
for consumers. Other benefits include more efficient use of existing
transmission and more efficient integration of new resources.

Organized markets like Markets+ are expected to become the primary

platform for wholesale electricity transactions in the West — a significant
shift from today’s bilateral markets where most power sales occur. Markets+
will automatically match buyers and sellers, dispatch generation to serve
load at the lowest cost, and optimize transmission to manage grid congestion.
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SUPPORTING OUR

resource adequacy across |
the West " LEGACY

BPA took another step toward regionwide C O N —l_l N U E S =

resource adequacy planning by partici-
pating in the Western Resource Adequacy R CUNATIEREEORVEEIRTTIR:

Program’s third data-sharing season. _ ambitious plan to bring low-cost power to
Using common metrics and transparent S ERUCKECHIANIUNES ARG
data, WRAP provides a shared foundation  SSSECULYCIIINTTIUCSRTIURIVIRTVIENE
for maintaining reliable operations. -~ Wwire, providing access to affordable,
Participation in WRAP is a prerequisite for  [SRCIEERGEATI IS CEgeRREl Y
participating in Markets+. to flow from the burgeoning Federal

. . . Columbia River Power System.
When fully operational, WRAP will leverage the diversity of all

participants’ loads and resources across the program’s footprint, . .
potentially reducing planning reserve margins for all entities. Today, BPA'is respondlng to a renewed

It will also allow members with surplus generating capacity to Ui demand for power, driven by modem

assist those with deficits. 3 . ,
societal needs. We are committed

In FY 2025, after implementing the necessary software systems 2 . . . .

to support hourly data submittals, BPA began sharing real-time ; fo bemg a reliable service prowder that

and forward-looking data about energy resources and loads. it our customers can count on to meet

This data-sharing among WRAP members allows the program : ;

to determine which participants are resource adequate or o, their evolvmg needs; and a trustworthy

resource deficient in time frames ranging from the short-term v steward the region can count on to

to several years in the future. L - . .

When binding operations begin and the program becomes fully prowde an abundance of vital e

enforceable, WRAP’s compliance structure will hold all and transmission resources.
participants accountable for proper planning, and incentivize

participants to proactively plan for necessary generation and

transmission investments.

BPA has supported the development of WRAP since 2019, and

we remain committed to seeing the program succeed. BPA will %

begin binding operations in winter 2027/2028. .
: John Hairston Jr., Administrator and CEO
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target results

BPA sets annual targets to gauge the
agency’s performance. Where applicable,
financial results are for the FCRPS
reporting entity.

Financial strength

Agency capital expenditures Target met. BPA's direct capital
expenditures for the year are $1.08 billion, which meets the
end-of-year target range to expend between $983 million and
$1.26 billion.

Agency days cash on hand Target met. The agency days
cash on hand is 64 days, above the target of 60 days or more.

Agency debt-to-asset ratio Target met. The agency
debt-to-asset ratio is 79.6% against a target of equal to or
less than the prior fiscal year, which was 80.4%.

Agency Integrated Program Review cost expenditures
Target met. BPA's IPR cost expenditures for the year are
$2.2 billion, which is $36 million below the end-of-year target
of equal to or less than $2.23 hillion.

Agency net revenues Target met. BPA generated net revenues
of $74 million, which is $4 million above the end-of-year target
of $70 million.

Available U.S. Treasury borrowing authority Target met.
BPA’s remaining borrowing authority with the U.S. Treasury is
$7.45 billion against the target of at least $1.5 billion, and

the current forecast shows no borrowing authority shortfall over
the full 20-year period.

Power and transmission reliability

Federal hydro forced outage factor Target not met. BPA's
forced outage factor for hydropower generation facilities,
reflecting the percentage of hours within the period the asset
was not available to run due to an unplanned event, was 8.9%,
above the target of 8.5% or less. BPA continues to work closely
with the Corps and Reclamation to coordinate the work

and funding to resolve forced outages; and the Joint Operating
Committee Co-Chairs reprioritize non-routine expense funding
to address the most impactful outages in a timely manner.

Columbia Generating Station availability factor Target met.
Columbia’s availability factor, measured from July 1, 2024, to
June 30, 2025, was 95.5%, above the target of 93% or higher.

System average interruption frequency index — low
voltage (<200-kV) Target met. BPA's frequency of annualized
unplanned line outages on low-voltage lines was 0.27, below
the target of 0.51 outages per line or less.

System average interruption frequency index — high
voltage (>200-kV) Target met. BPA's frequency of annualized
unplanned line outages on high-voltage lines was 0.22, below
the target of 0.43 outages per line or less.

System average interruption duration index — low voltage

(<200-kV) Target met. BPA's duration of annualized unplanned
line outages on low-voltage lines was 203.55 minutes per line,
below the target of 319.66 minutes or less.

System average interruption duration index — high voltage
(=200-kV) Target met. BPA’s duration of annualized unplanned
line outages on high-voltage lines was 154.27 minutes per line,
below the target of 244.66 minutes or less.

Safety

Incident frequency rate Target met. BPA recorded an incident
frequency rate of 0.8 per 200,000 hours worked, below the
ceiling of 0.8. IFR measures the recordable injuries and illnesses
occurring per 100 full-time employees over the course of the
fiscal year.

Safety corrective actions Target met. BPA completed 93.6%
of safety corrective actions, above the target of 80%.
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General

The Federal Columbia River Power System (FCRPS) financial statements combine the accounts of the
Bonneville Power Administration (BPA) with the accounts of the federal hydropower generating facilities
in the Pacific Northwest operated by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) and the Bureau of
Reclamation (Reclamation). The FCRPS combined financial statements also include the operations
and maintenance costs of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service for the Lower Snake River Compensation
Plan facilities. Consolidated with BPA is a variable interest entity (VIE) of which BPA is the primary
beneficiary, and from which BPA leases certain transmission facilities. The FCRPS fiscal year is from
Oct. 1 to Sept. 30.

FCRPS revenues are derived principally from the sale of power and transmission products and
services. In 1937, the Bonneville Project Act created BPA and directed it to market federally produced
hydroelectric power to customers, giving preference and priority in power sales to public bodies and
cooperatives. The Act authorized BPA to provide, construct, operate, maintain and improve
transmission facilities to deliver federal power at cost. BPA is obligated to meet its statutory and
contractual load obligations to preference customers so they can meet their total retail loads and load
growth, minus their own nonfederal power supply. Preference customers are the largest customer
group to which BPA sells power. BPA's current power sales agreements with preference customers are
in effect through fiscal year 2028. As an open access transmission service provider, BPA provides
ancillary and control area services to support basic transmission services, including providing balancing
reserves for interconnected renewable generation. BPA remains committed to providing
nondiscriminatory open access transmission after meeting statutory responsibilities to preference
customers and others.

BPA’s hydroelectric power supply depends on the amount and timing of precipitation in the Columbia
River Basin and the shape, or timing, of the resulting runoff. For ratemaking purposes, BPA balances its
firm load obligations with the runoff consistent with “critical water conditions.” This assumption yields
estimated power generation under historically low water conditions, which provides BPA with a reliable
estimate of the firm power available to meet firm load obligations. Federal firm power is provided to
meet regional preference customer loads first. BPA may also sell firm power to other entities, including
regional investor-owned utilities and direct-service industrial customers. Power produced in excess of
BPA's firm load obligations, if available, is considered by BPA to be surplus power and is sold in the
Western Interconnection wholesale power markets. When generation is not sufficient to meet loads,
BPA purchases power on the wholesale markets or acquires the output of resources.

Use of Estimates and Forward-Looking Information

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is unaudited and may contain statements which,
to the extent they are not recitations of historical facts, constitute “forward-looking statements.” In this
respect, the words “planned,” “predict,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect” and similar expressions are
intended to identify forward-looking statements. Several important factors affecting FCRPS business
and financial results could cause actual results to differ materially from those stated in forward-looking
statements due to factors such as changes in economic, industry, political and business conditions;
changes in laws, regulations and policies and the application of the laws; and changes in climate,
weather, hydroelectric conditions and power services supply and demand. BPA does not plan to issue
updates or revisions to the forward-looking statements.

Rates and the Effect of Regulations
Background

BPA is committed to cost-based rates, and public and regional preference in its marketing of power.
BPA sets its rates as low as possible consistent with sound business principles and the full recovery of
all of its costs, including timely repayment of the federal investment in the FCRPS.

Under BPA's U.S. Treasury payment probability standard, BPA establishes rates sufficient to maintain a
level of financial reserves and achieve a 97.5% annual probability of making all of BPA's scheduled

U.S. Treasury payments during the rate period. (For the definition of financial reserves, see the Liquidity
and Capital Resources section in this MD&A.)

Rates for Fiscal Years 2024-2025

To establish rates for fiscal years 2024 and 2025, BPA concluded the BP-24 rate proceeding in

July 2023 by releasing the Administrator’s Final Record of Decision and Final Proposal. Rates went into
effect on Oct. 1, 2023, and were effective through Sept. 30, 2025. The Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission’s (FERC) practice is to grant approval of BPA's rates on an interim basis at the beginning
of the rate period, pending final review. FERC granted final approval of the BP-24 Power and
Transmission rates in March 2024. BPA held power and transmission rates flat when compared to the
prior rate period (BP-22).

As with the 2022-2023 rate period, power and transmission rates in the BP-24 rate period also included
rate adjustment mechanisms, such as the Cost Recovery Adjustment Clause (CRAC), Financial
Reserves Policy (FRP) Surcharge and Reserves Distribution Clause (RDC), which BPA employs if
certain financial conditions occur. As defined in the BP-24 rate case, if business line financial reserves
and agency reserves are above their respective upper thresholds, and the RDC amount is greater than
$5 million, the BPA Administrator shall consider the above-threshold financial reserves for debt
reduction, incremental capital investment, rate reduction through a Dividend Distribution, distribution to
customers, or any business line specific purposes determined by the BPA Administrator.

Based upon fiscal year 2024 financial results and year-end reserves for risk levels for Transmission
services, a Transmission RDC occurred for application in fiscal year 2025. In December 2024, the BPA
Administrator determined the entire Transmission RDC amount of $82.8 million would be applied
toward flexible debt reduction, with BPA retaining the flexibility to forego some or all of the planned debt
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reduction to preserve BPA's liquidity. In fiscal year 2025, BPA applied the entire $82.8 million
Transmission RDC towards debt reduction.

Based on fiscal year 2023 financial results and year-end reserves for risk levels for both Power and
Transmission Services, an RDC occurred for application in fiscal year 2024. The Transmission RDC
was $130.4 million, and the Power RDC was $285.4 million. For information regarding the use of the
fiscal year 2023 RDC, applied in fiscal year 2024, see the Management’s Discussion and Analysis in
BPA’'s 2024 Annual Report.

Rates for Fiscal Years 2026-2028

To establish rates for fiscal years 2026 through 2028, BPA concluded the BP-26 rate proceeding in July
2025 by releasing the Administrator’s Final Record of Decision and Final Proposal. Rates went into
effect on Oct. 1, 2025, and will be effective through Sept. 30, 2028, assuming final approval by FERC.
FERC’s practice is to grant approval of BPA's rates on an interim basis at the beginning of the rate
period, pending final review. The average effective increase for the Priority Firm Tier 1 power rate,
which represents the majority of BPA's power sales, is 8.9%. The average transmission service rate
increase across all projects is 19.9%.

As with the 2024-2025 rate period, power and transmission rates in the BP-26 rate period will also
include other rate adjustment mechanisms, such as the CRAC, FRP Surcharge and RDC, which BPA
employs if certain financial conditions occur. If power financial reserves and agency reserves are above
their respective upper thresholds, and the RDC amount is greater than $5 million, the BPA
Administrator shall consider the above-threshold power financial reserves for debt reduction,
incremental capital investment, rate reduction through a Dividend Distribution, distribution to customers,
or any business line specific purposes determined by the BPA Administrator, in alignment with the BP-
26 rate case. Any above-threshold financial reserves for transmission shall be applied to rate reduction
through a Transmission Dividend Distribution, in alignment with the BP-26 Transmission Rates
Settlement Agreement.

Based upon fiscal year 2025 financial results a Power Surcharge has triggered for $40 million to be
collected in fiscal year 2026, resulting in a 2.2% rate increase for Power. The BPA Administrator will
issue the final surcharge amount and rate by Dec. 15, following a public review and comment period.
The surcharge is reassessed at the close of each fiscal year and may again trigger in fiscal year 2027.

Slice

BPA provides a power sales product called “Slice of the System,” or “Slice.” For this product, Slice
customers pay for a fixed percentage of BPA's power costs in exchange for the right to an
indeterminate and variable amount of power. The amount of power Slice customers receive is indexed
to their respective Slice percentages and the decisions they make using a BPA-provided water routing
simulator that reasonably represents the real-world constraints and capabilities of the FCRPS. BPA and
its federal partners retain all operational control of resources that comprise the FCRPS at all times. The
aggregate amount of Slice that BPA sold in fiscal years 2025 and 2024 was 19.7% of the system. The
Slice percentage for fiscal year 2026 will be 11.8%.
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Results of Operations

Operating revenues
A comparison of FCRPS operating revenues follows for the fiscal years ended Sept. 30, 2025,
and 2024

(Millions of dollars) Fiscal Fiscal Revenue
Year Year Increase %
2025 2024 (Decrease) Change
Sales
Consolidated sales
Power gross sales $ 3,018.4 $ 3,084.1 $ (65.7) 2 %
Transmission 1,193.7 1,178.6 15.1 1
Bookouts (Power) (102.3) (77.0) (25.3) 33
Consolidated sales 4,109.8 4,185.7 (75.9) (2)
Other revenues
Power 30.3 66.1 (35.8) (54)
Transmission 62.5 55.0 7.5 14
Other revenues 92.8 1211 (28.3) (23)
Sales 4,202.6 4,306.8 (104.2) (2)
U.S. Treasury credits 165.4 262.4 (97.0) (37)
Total operating revenues $ 4,368.0 $ 4,569.2 $ (201.2) 4)

Total operating revenues decreased $201.2 million when compared to fiscal year 2024. Sales of Power
and Transmission services, including other revenues and the effect of bookouts, decreased $104.2
million.

Power gross sales decreased $65.7 million.

e Surplus power sales, including revenue from derivative instruments settled with physical deliveries,
decreased $314.8 million primarily due to lower prices when compared to fiscal year 2024.

e Firm power sales increased $249.1 million. $87.9 million of this increase was driven by more
customers electing to serve load through the purchase of power at BPA Tier 2 rates in fiscal year
2025. Additionally, in fiscal year 2025 BPA recognized no reductions to revenue related to a Power
RDC. Because of the RDC in fiscal year 2024, BPA recognized a reduction to revenue of
$165.4 million, resulting in a comparative increase of $165.4 million in fiscal year 2025.

e January through July 2025 runoff volume at The Dalles Dam was 81 million acre feet (maf), an
increase of 2 maf from the same period in 2024. The volume of runoff measured at The Dalles
Dam is one of several indicators of the amount of electricity the hydropower system can produce.
The full fiscal year 2025 volume finished at 105 maf, an increase of 3 maf from fiscal year 2024
and below the historical average (1929-2018) of 134 maf.

e Gross power sales increased to 65,746,901 megawatt-hours in fiscal year 2025 from 65,369,625
megawatt-hours in fiscal year 2024.
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Transmission sales increased $15.1 million. Energy Imbalance Market (EIM) revenues decreased

$41 million when compared to fiscal year 2024. In January 2024 the region experienced a generational
cold snap which, coupled with hydroelectric power generation outages, transmission congestion and
increases in energy prices, led to an increase in EIM revenues that did not repeat in fiscal year 2025.
Partially offsetting this decrease was a $35.3 million increase in point-to-point long-term revenues due
to customers taking new service. Additionally, $8.9 million in increases in Southern Intertie revenues
due to more customers moving power, coupled with the previously described increase in point-to-point
long-term revenues, led to an increase of $10.4 million in the supporting scheduling, control and
dispatch revenue category.

Bookouts are presented on a net basis in the Combined Statements of Revenues and Expenses. When
sales and purchases are scheduled with the same counterparty on the same transmission path for the
same hour, the power is typically booked out and not scheduled for physical delivery. The megawatt-
hours offset each other, netting to zero. These offsetting transactions' dollar values reduce sales and
purchased power expense and are recorded as bookouts. Therefore, the accounting treatment for
bookouts has no effect on net revenues, cash flows or margins.

Power other revenues decreased $35.8 million primarily due to a decrease in realized gains associated
with financial future trades. BPA uses financial futures contracts on energy as an operational hedge to
mitigate for price volatility in the physical energy market. Financial futures contracts are settled
financially and not through the delivery of power.

Transmission other revenues increased $7.5 million primarily due to an increase in reimbursable
revenues associated with work performed for BPA customers. Reimbursable revenues are generally
offset by an equivalent amount of reimbursable expenses.

U.S. Treasury credits for fish and wildlife mitigation decreased $97 million. This decrease was due to
lower volumes of replacement power purchased at lower market prices when compared to results
through the prior fiscal year. Through the fiscal year, BPA records anticipated U.S. Treasury credits
earned through the reporting period. BPA calculates and records the annual U.S. Treasury credits
earned at fiscal year-end. For additional information regarding U.S. Treasury credits, see Note 2,
Revenue Recognition, in the fiscal year 2025 Notes to Financial Statements.
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Operating expenses
A comparison of FCRPS operating expenses follows for the fiscal years ended Sept. 30, 2025, and

2024:
(Millions of dollars) Fiscal Fiscal Expense
Year Year Increase %
2025 2024 (Decrease) Change
Operations and maintenance $ 2,702.2 $ 2,463.1 $ 239.1 10 %
Purchased power 569.6 1,023.2 (453.6) (44)
Depreciation, amortization and accretion 908.1 870.9 37.2 4
Total operating expenses $ 4,179.9 $ 4357.2 $ (177.3) 4)

Total operating expenses decreased $177.3 million when compared to fiscal year 2024.

Operations and maintenance expense increased $239.1 million, primarily due to the following factors:

$66.5 million increase to Columbia Generating Station costs primarily due to fiscal year 2025
being a refueling year. Refueling occurs biennially, most recently in fiscal year 2023, and
refueling and maintenance expenses are higher in refueling years.

$43.5 million increase to conservation purchases primarily due to a number of customers
implementing income-qualified energy efficiency programs within their territories.

$20.3 million expense recorded in connection with the Resilient Columbia Basin Agreement and
amounts owed to the Six Sovereigns. (For additional information regarding this transaction, see
Other Operational Matters, Resilient Columbia Basin Agreement Withdrawal, in this MD&A.)
$19.6 million increase in USACE expenses primarily due to increased labor costs when
compared to fiscal year 2024.

$18.8 million expense increase due to the termination of a customer billing software
implementation project. Upon termination of the project in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2025,
BPA expensed the previously capitalized Construction work in progress assets.

$17.9 million increase in Transmission maintenance expenses due to an increase in the cost of
hourly labor and an increase in the amount of maintenance work performed.

$15.6 million increase to Fish and Wildlife Program expenses due to greater amounts of work
performed when compared to fiscal year 2024.

$14.7 million decrease in EIM settlement charges due to the extreme cold snap experienced
during January 2024, which led to large EIM expenses that did not repeat in fiscal year 2025. A
portion of EIM settlement charges are sub-allocated to certain BPA transmission customers and
recognized as revenue.

$12.2 million increase in fish and wildlife costs in connection with prior year RDC decisions. This
increase includes amounts supporting BPA'’s direct Fish and Wildlife Program and the U.S. Fish
and Wildlife Service Lower Snake River Compensation Plan.

$10.2 million decrease in the annual settlements paid to the Confederated Tribes of the Colville
Reservation and Spokane Tribe of Indians. The current year payments are based upon, in part,
prior year output at Grand Coulee Dam, Power Services gross sales and the number of
megawatts sold. Lower-than-average flows at Grand Coulee Dam and lower average price per
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megawatt in fiscal year 2024 led to a decrease in the annual payments made in
fiscal year 2025.

e $8.6 million increase in the amount of reimbursable work being performed for external
customers.

e $7.5 million increase in Reclamation expenses primarily due to increased labor costs.

e $5.5 million decrease in U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Lower Snake River Compensation Plan
hatchery costs due to delays in work completion.

e $4.6 million net increase to Control Center Support due to a planned increase in work
performed.

e $34.3 million net increase to various other Transmission, Enterprise Services and Power
program costs primarily due to increases in personnel costs not discussed in the preceding
bullets.

Purchased power expense, including the effects of bookouts, decreased $453.6 million due to lower
volumes of power purchased at lower market prices when compared to fiscal year 2024. Additionally,
during the fiscal year 2024 cold snap, BPA was a net purchaser of power at extremely high prices, and
similar conditions did not repeat in fiscal year 2025.

Depreciation, amortization and accretion increased $37.2 million primarily due to an increase in
depreciation expense of $54.2 million. Factors leading to this increase include higher amounts of utility
plant assets in service and the impacts of revised depreciation rates applied beginning in March 2025.
Partially offsetting this increase was a decrease in amortization expense of approximately $20.4 million.
Fiscal year 2024 was the final year of amortization of the Terminated I-5 Corridor Reinforcement
Project. As such, no related amortization expense was recorded in fiscal year 2025.

Interest expense and other income, net

A comparison of FCRPS interest expense and other income, net follows for the fiscal years ended
Sept. 30, 2025, and 2024:

(Millions of dollars) Fiscal Fiscal Expense

Year Year Increase %

2025 2024 (Decrease) Change
Interest expense $ 467.9 $ 457.2 $ 10.7 2 %
Irrigation assistance 14.4 8.4 6.0 71
Allowance for funds used during construction (71.5) (56.8) (14.7) 26
Interest income (34.3) (43.9) 9.6 (22)
Other, net (262.2) (20.7) (241.5) NM*
Total interest expense and other income, net $ 114.3 $ 344.2 $ (229.9) (67)

*The percentage change is not meaningful.

Total interest expense and other income, net decreased $229.9 million when compared to fiscal
year 2024.

Interest expense increased $10.7 million primarily due to a $23.9 million increase in interest expense
related to Borrowings from U.S. Treasury, driven by increased debt balances. Partially offsetting this
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increase was an $11.6 million decrease driven by increased amortization of Nonfederal debt premiums,
which reduce interest expense.

Irrigation assistance experienced an increase from fiscal year 2024. The annual expense is based upon
a schedule received from Reclamation and varies year to year.

Allowance for funds used during construction increased $14.7 million due to higher Construction work
in progress balances and higher interest rates when compared to fiscal year 2024. For additional
information on how the rates applied to AFUDC are calculated each year, see Note 1, Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies, in the 2025 Notes to Financial Statements.

Interest income decreased $9.6 million due to lower amounts of short-term investments in U.S.
Treasury securities as a result of lower cash balances coupled with lower interest rates received from
U.S. Treasury. These investments have original maturities of 90 days or less and are recorded as Cash
and cash equivalents on the Combined Balance Sheets.

Other, net changed $241.5 million primarily due to a yearly change in net gains recognized in
connection with the early debt extinguishments of U.S. Treasury debt of $238.9 million. (For additional
information regarding the current year transactions, see Other Operational Matters, U.S. Treasury Debt
Refinancing, in this MD&A.) The remainder of the difference is comprised of an increase in dividends
and net realized gains received on investments held in the Nonfederal nuclear decommissioning trusts
of $3.7 million and a decrease in net gains and losses on nonfederal debt transactions of $1.1 million.

Other Operational Matters

Grand Coulee Switchyard Asset Transfer

In October 2024, BPA and Reclamation entered into an agreement to transfer ownership of assets at
three switchyards at the Grand Coulee Dam from Reclamation to BPA. The transition of operations and
maintenance of these assets will occur gradually over five years to provide the greatest level of
reliability and ensure continued safety in switchyard operations. After the transition is complete, BPA
expects to realize overall cost savings in annual operations and maintenance expenses, along with
significant reduction in overhead costs on capital modernization projects going forward. The transaction
to record the asset transfers did not affect FCRPS fiscal year 2025 net revenues. In addition, all related
assets and liabilities had been reported on the fiscal year 2024 FCRPS Combined Balance Sheet, with
no net FCRPS change recorded in fiscal year 2025.

Energy Northwest Line of Credit Activity

In December 2024, Energy Northwest entered into a $120 million line of credit arrangement to provide
interim financing to pay for certain costs of the Columbia Generating Station nuclear facility. Amounts
borrowed are due to be repaid on or before Dec. 16, 2026.

In December 2024, Energy Northwest borrowed $54.3 million to fund an advanced nuclear fuel
purchase. In February 2025, Energy Northwest borrowed an additional $54.2 million to complete the
advanced nuclear fuel purchase. As a result of these transactions, BPA recorded a $108.5 million
increase to current Nonfederal debt and an accompanying increase to Nonfederal generation on the
Combined Balance Sheet.
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In May 2025, Energy Northwest used some of the proceeds from the issuance of long-term bonds to
repay the $108.5 million outstanding.

In August and September 2025, Energy Northwest borrowed $1.2 million and $5 million, respectively.
These borrowings provide interim financing for capital costs associated with an extended power uprate
project that will increase the output of the Columbia Generating Station. Energy Northwest expects to
fund repayment of these amounts with bond proceeds in fiscal year 2026.

Change in Administration

On Jan. 20, 2025, Donald J. Trump was sworn in as President of the United States of America. On Feb.
4, 2025, Chris Wright was sworn in as the Secretary of the United States Department of Energy.

With every new Administration, national policy objectives may change and shifting political priorities
could impact BPA. On Jan. 20, 2025, President Trump issued a Presidential Memorandum instituting a
federal hiring freeze intended to be replaced by a long-term workforce reduction plan to be developed
by the United States Office of Personnel Management (“OPM”), which resulted in BPA rescinding 90
job offers.

On Jan. 28, 2025, BPA employees received the “Fork in the Road” email from OPM offering a Deferred
Resignation Program (“DRP”) and voluntary early retirement for those that qualify with requests to opt
in required by Feb. 6, 2025. The DRP enabled employees to resign effective Sept. 30, 2025 (or Dec.
31, 2025, if retiring), but be placed on administrative leave beginning as early as the first week of March
until the September resignation date or December retirement date.

On March 31, 2025, the Department of Energy instituted a second DRP with requests to opt in required
by April 11, 2025. The requirements, expectations, benefits and other facets were consistent with the
DRP offered in February 2025. However, enroliment requests were reviewed for eligibility to ensure that
mission-critical positions are properly staffed and, as such, a few select employees who had been on
administrative leave since January 2025 were eligible to participate in the second DRP.

Despite impacts to BPA’s workforce from the federal hiring freeze and DRP, BPA continues to maintain
reliability and perform its essential statutory responsibilities. BPA does not expect the reliability and
resilience of the Federal System to be affected.

Neither the inability to hire nor staff departures via the DRP have had a material impact to BPA’s net
revenues or financial position as of Sept. 30, 2025, and BPA has not accrued any additional liability
related to either DRP. Those who accepted the DRP remain as BPA employees through the end of the
DRP periods and receive salary payments in accordance with normal payroll procedures.

U.S. Treasury Debt Refinancing

In February 2025, BPA called approximately $408 million of long-term bonds it had previously issued to
the U.S. Treasury and refinanced approximately $242 million of long-term debt to mature on

Sept. 30, 2025. As a result, BPA recognized a $165.9 million gain to Other, net in the Combined
Statements of Revenues and Expenses.

As part of its annual payment to the U.S. Treasury, BPA applies the U.S. Treasury credits earned each
fiscal year against various categories of payment obligations. For example, BPA may apply U.S.
Treasury credits against interest expense or liabilities such as borrowings from U.S. Treasury and

28 — BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION



federal appropriations. BPA anticipated that available U.S. Treasury credits would outpace federal
appropriations due Sept. 30, 2025, and this debt refinancing ensured adequate obligations outstanding
to apply the available U.S. Treasury credits against.

In April 2025, BPA called an additional $156 million of long-terms bonds it had previously issued to the
U.S. Treasury. As a result, BPA recognized a $68.9 million gain to Other, net in the Combined
Statements of Revenues and Expenses.

In July 2025, BPA called an additional $159.8 million of long-terms bonds it had previously issued to the
U.S. Treasury. As a result, BPA recognized a net $3.9 million gain to Other, net in the Combined
Statements of Revenues and Expenses.

Resilient Columbia Basin Agreement Withdrawal

In June 2025, the White House issued a Presidential Memorandum directing BPA and other federal
partners to withdraw from the December 2023 Resilient Columbia Basin Agreement. As such, BPA has
derecognized the outstanding $111 million liability and associated regulatory asset that BPA had
intended to collect from customers in future rates. In order to disburse the amount obligated prior to its
termination, BPA has recorded a one-time increase of $20.3 million to Operations and maintenance
expense in the Combined Statements of Revenues and Expenses which was offset by an equal liability
recorded under Accounts payable and other on the Combined Balance Sheets. BPA appreciates the
ongoing coordination with the Administration as it continues to deliver abundant, affordable and reliable
electricity from the Federal Columbia River Power System to its public power customers.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents and financial reserves

To ensure BPA is able to meet its financial responsibilities to counterparties and to the U.S. Treasury,
BPA relies on measures such as financial reserves, a line of credit with the U.S. Treasury and other
items such as an FRP Surcharge and a CRAC. The Surcharge and CRAC are rate mechanisms BPA
can use to adjust rates once each fiscal year if certain financial conditions exist. Financial reserves, a
non-GAAP liquidity measure used by BPA management, consist of BPA cash and cash equivalents,
investments in U.S. Treasury market-based special securities and deferred borrowing. The

U.S. Treasury market-based special securities reflect the market value as if securities were liquidated
as of the end of the period. Deferred borrowing represents amounts that BPA is authorized to borrow
from the U.S. Treasury for capital expenditures on utility plant assets and for expenditures on certain
regulatory assets, primarily related to fish and wildlife, that BPA has incurred but has not borrowed for
as of the end of the period. Over time, BPA intends to borrow such deferred borrowing amounts from
U.S. Treasury.

BPA's primary source of liquidity is its financial reserves, which are used to meet financial obligations in
the face of potential cash flow uncertainty, and which BPA management considers the same as cash.
Financial reserves are monitored to ensure that BPA has enough financial reserves to meet minimum
liquidity requirements, including day-to-day operations, while also ensuring that financial reserves are
used efficiently when they grow to a healthy level. Additionally, BPA management uses certain lower
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and upper financial reserves thresholds to determine if rate adjustment mechanisms trigger each fiscal
year.

BPA's financial reserves decreased $196.5 million during fiscal year 2025:

(Millions of dollars) As of As of Increase %
Sept. 30, 2025 Sept. 30, 2024 (Decrease) Change
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12066 $ 14120 $ (2054) (15) %
Less: Cash and cash equivalents held by
USACE and Reclamation 707.2 651.1 56.1 9
Add: Deferred borrowing 602.9 537.9 65.0 12
BPA financial reserves balance $ 11023 $ 12988 $ (196.5) (15)

Three-year capital forecast

Planned capital expenditures for the FCRPS over the next three fiscal years for utility plant and for fish
and wildlife assets, recorded as regulatory assets, are shown below. Where applicable, the amounts
include estimates for capitalized indirect, overhead and interest costs. Actual capital expenditures may
differ materially from these estimates based upon a number of factors, including environmental and
cultural resource requirements, project lead times, resource availability, outages, dependencies
associated with other projects and other factors. Amounts in the table below do not include investments
projected by Energy Northwest for Columbia Generating Station.

(Millions of dollars) Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal

Year Year Year

2026 2027 2028
Transmission assets $ 1,111 $ 1,512 $ 1,412
Federal system hydro generation assets 285 332 333
Fish and wildlife 53 86 92
IT and other assets 36 38 40
Total annual capital forecast $ 1,485 $ 1,968 $ 1,877

BPA makes capital investments to support its multifaceted responsibilities to the region. BPA’s primary
source of financing for its capital program is its ability to borrow from the U.S. Treasury, which is limited
and discussed in the section below. In attempts to ensure continued funding necessary for critical
infrastructure improvements, BPA has expanded its options over the years. These options include
nonfederal debt financing and refinancing, lease-purchases, the power prepay program, reserves and
revenue financing, and asset management strategies to more rigorously prioritize proposed capital
investments. The USACE and Reclamation also receive congressional appropriations to finance certain
hydropower-related capital investments. BPA’s repayment obligation begins when those capital
investments are completed and placed into service by USACE and Reclamation.
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BPA borrowing authority from the U.S. Treasury

BPA is currently authorized by Congress to issue and sell bonds to the U.S. Treasury and have
outstanding at any one time up to $13.7 billion aggregate principal amount of bonds. Beginning in fiscal
year 2028, an additional $4 billion of U.S. Treasury borrowing authority will be available. The

U.S. Treasury borrowing authority may be used to finance capital programs for the FCRPS. In addition,
BPA and the U.S. Treasury have agreed to a liquidity facility for Northwest Power Act expenses in the
amount of $750 million. Use of the facility is counted within the $13.7 billion overall limit. For capital
programs, the related U.S. Treasury debt is term limited depending on the facilities financed: 50 years
for USACE and Reclamation capital investments, 35 years for transmission facilities, 15 years for fish
and wildlife projects and six years for corporate capital assets.

As of Sept. 30, 2025, BPA had $6.25 billion of bonds outstanding to the U.S. Treasury and $7.45 billion
in remaining U.S. Treasury borrowing authority.

Regional Cooperation Debt

Starting in fiscal year 2014, BPA and Energy Northwest worked closely to establish a new phase of
integrated debt management for their combined total debt portfolios, the debt service of which is borne
by BPA ratepayers through BPA'’s rates. Energy Northwest-related debt refinanced under this effort is
called Regional Cooperation Debt. The first phase of this effort focused on reducing the weighted-
average interest rate and maturity of BPA’s overall debt portfolio.

In fiscal year 2021, BPA entered the second and current phase of the Regional Cooperation Debt
program. This phase is focused on replenishing BPA’s U.S. Treasury borrowing authority or directly
funding capital expenditures. This phase of the Regional Cooperation Debt program utilizes the
issuance of new bonds by Energy Northwest to refinance outstanding bonds shortly before their
maturities when substantial principal repayments are due. In addition, bonds issued under phase two
may fund a portion of interest payments related to outstanding Energy Northwest bonds. Freed-up
amounts in the BPA Fund from these actions will be used to either pay off certain bonds issued by BPA
(Borrowings from U.S. Treasury) to the U.S. Treasury or to directly fund capital expenditures.

BPA estimates that Energy Northwest may potentially issue up to $2.09 billion in aggregate future
Regional Cooperation Debt phase two bonds in fiscal years 2026 through 2030.

Lease-Purchase Program

The Lease-Purchase Program enables BPA to provide for continued investment in infrastructure to
support a safe and reliable system for the transmission of power without using limited U.S. Treasury
borrowing authority. Under this program, BPA generally acts as the construction provider and has
entered into lease-purchase arrangements with third parties that issue bonds and other debt
instruments to fund construction of specific transmission assets. These third parties in fiscal year 2025
included the Port of Morrow, Oregon and the Idaho Energy Resources Authority, an independent public
instrumentality of the state of Idaho. For additional information regarding the Lease-Purchase Program,
see Note 8, Debt and Appropriations, in the fiscal year 2025 Notes to Financial Statements.

In fiscal year 2025, the Idaho Energy Resources Authority issued bonds to acquire certain transmission
assets from the Port of Morrow, Oregon that were previously under lease-purchase by BPA. BPA
entered into a lease-purchase arrangement with the Idaho Energy Resources Authority and will
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continue to lease-purchase those assets through Sept. 1, 2048. This effort to refinance outstanding
bonds shortly before their more closely aligned the maturities of the debt with the useful lives of the
underlying assets. Freed-up amounts in the BPA fund were used to pay off certain bonds issued by
BPA to the U.S. Treasury.

U.S. Treasury payment

BPA made its U.S. Treasury payment of $1.2 billion for fiscal year 2025, the 42nd consecutive year in
which BPA made its scheduled payment on time and in full.

o Fiscal Fiscal

(Millions of dollars) Year Year

2025 2024

Scheduled payment

Principal $ 275.4 $ 305.9
Interest 258.7 231.9
Irrigation assistance 14.4 8.4
Other FCRPS costs 54.3 52.1
Scheduled payment 602.8 598.3
Advanced principal payment 595.6 194.0
Total Treasury payment $ 1,198.4 $ 792.3

The fiscal year 2025 payment included an unscheduled advance payment of $595.6 million. This was
made possible by additional cash in the Bonneville Fund becoming available as a result of the second
phase of the Regional Cooperation Debt Program, the Lease-Purchase Extension transaction, the fiscal
year 2024 Transmission RDC applied in fiscal year 2025 and fiscal year 2025 U.S. Treasury debt
management actions.

Critical Accounting Policies

Regulatory accounting

BPA'’s rates are designed to recover its cost of service. In connection with the rate-setting process,
certain current costs or credits may be included in rates for recovery or refund over future periods.
Under those circumstances, regulatory assets or liabilities are recorded in accordance with authoritative
guidance for regulated operations. Such costs or credits are amortized during the periods they are
scheduled in rates.

In order to apply regulatory accounting, an entity must have the statutory authority to establish rates
that recover all costs, and rates so established must be charged to and collected from customers. If
BPA's rates should become market-based, BPA would review any deferred costs and revenues for
possible recognition in the Combined Statement of Revenues and Expenses in that period. Since
BPA’s rates are not structured to provide a rate of return, regulatory assets are recovered at cost
without an additional rate of return. Amortization of these assets and liabilities is reflected in the
Combined Statements of Revenues and Expenses.
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Revenues

BPA has elected to apply the right-to-invoice practical expedient to FCRPS rate-regulated revenues
from power and transmission services. Amounts invoiced correspond directly with the value to the
customers for energy or services provided by the FCRPS reporting entities. Therefore, revenues from
power and transmission sales, which include billed and estimated unbilled amounts, are recognized
over time upon the delivery of energy or services to the customers. Operating revenues include
estimates for unbilled power and transmission services that were delivered but not billed by the end of
the fiscal year. Accrued unbilled revenues are estimated from forecasts based on multiple factors
including streamflows, seasonality, weather, changes in electricity prices, and customer load and usage
patterns. Consequently, the amount of accrued unbilled revenues can vary significantly from period

to period.
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Administrator of the
Bonneville Power Administration,
United States Department of Energy

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying combined financial statements of the Federal Columbia River Power System (the
“FCRPS”), which comprise the combined balance sheets as of September 30, 2025 and 2024, and the related combined
statements of revenues and expenses and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30,
2025, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “combined financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying combined financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the FCRPS as of September 30, 2025 and 2024, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2025 in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (US
GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Combined Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the FCRPS and to
meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Combined Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the combined financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of combined
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the combined financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or

events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the FCRPS’ ability to continue as a going concern
for one year after the date the combined financial statements are available to be issued.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 805 SW Broadway #800, Portland, OR 97205
WWW.pwc.com
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Combined Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the combined financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the combined financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the combined financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the combined financial
statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
FCRPS’ internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the combined financial
statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the FCRPS’ ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified
during the audit.

WW LLF

Portland, Oregon
October 31, 2025
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Federal Columbia River Power System
Combined Balance Sheets
As of September 30

(Millions of Dollars)

2025 2024
Assets

Utility plant and nonfederal generation

Completed plant 23,1424 $ 22,235.9

Accumulated depreciation (8,947.3) (8,604.9)

Net completed plant 14,1951 13,631.0

Construction work in progress 2,482.0 2,236.4
Net utility plant 16,677.1 15,867.4
Nonfederal generation 3,581.2 3,410.0
Net utility plant and nonfederal generation 20,258.3 19,277.4
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,206.6 1,412.0

Accounts receivable, net of allowance 42.3 95.4

Accrued unbilled revenues 370.7 348.2

Materials and supplies, at average cost 148.7 140.5

Prepaid expenses 96.5 81.0
Total current assets 1,864.8 2,077.1
Other assets

Regulatory assets 3,700.7 4,153.4

Nonfederal nuclear decommissioning trusts 7141 623.5

Deferred charges and other 155.7 169.6
Total other assets 4,570.5 4,946.5

Total assets 26,693.6 $ 26,301.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Federal Columbia River Power System
Combined Balance Sheets
As of September 30

(Millions of Dollars)

2025 2024
Capitalization and Liabilities
Capitalization and long-term liabilities
Accumulated net revenues $ 5,530.7 $ 5,456.9
Debt
Federal appropriations 1,775.0 1,697.1
Borrowings from U.S. Treasury 6,114.5 5,846.7
Nonfederal debt 6,923.5 6,779.3
Total capitalization and long-term liabilities 20,343.7 19,780.0

Commitments and contingencies (See Note 14 to 2025 Audited Financial Statements)

Current liabilities

Debt
Borrowings from U.S. Treasury 131.0 114.0
Nonfederal debt 571.8 521.9
Accounts payable and other 804.1 869.1
Total current liabilities 1,506.9 1,505.0

Other liabilities

Regulatory liabilities 1,560.7 1,522.4
IOU exchange benefits 818.8 1,062.8
Asset retirement obligations 1,1771 1,118.2
Deferred credits and other 1,286.4 1,312.6
Total other liabilities 4,843.0 5,016.0
Total capitalization and liabilities $ 26,693.6 $ 26,301.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Federal Columbia River Power System
Combined Statements of Revenues and Expenses
For the Years Ended September 30

(Millions of Dollars)

2025 2024 2023

Operating revenues

Sales $ 4,202.6 $ 4,306.8 $ 3,985.6

U.S. Treasury credits 165.4 262.4 262.3
Total operating revenues 4,368.0 4,569.2 4,247.9
Operating expenses

Operations and maintenance 2,702.2 2,463.1 2,328.0

Purchased power 569.6 1,023.2 977.0

Depreciation, amortization and accretion 908.1 870.9 848.9
Total operating expenses 4,179.9 4,357.2 4,153.9
Net operating revenues 188.1 212.0 94.0
Interest expense and other income, net

Interest expense 467.9 457.2 448.4

Irrigation assistance 14.4 8.4 -

Allowance for funds used during construction (71.5) (56.8) (42.0)

Interest income (34.3) (43.9) (69.4)

Other, net (262.2) (20.7) 14.0
Total interest expense and other income, net 114.3 344.2 351.0
Net revenues (expenses) 73.8 (132.2) (257.0)

Accumulated net revenues, beginning of year 5,456.9 5,589.1 5,859.6

Irrigation assistance - - (13.5)
Accumulated net revenues, end of year $ 5,530.7 $ 5,456.9 $ 5,589.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Federal Columbia River Power System

Combined Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended September 30

(Millions of Dollars)

2025 2024 2023
Cash flows from operating activities
Net revenues (expenses) $ 73.8 $ (132.2) $ (257.0)
Adjustments to reconcile net revenues to cash provided by operations:
Depreciation, amortization and accretion 908.1 870.9 848.9
U.S. Treasury debt gain on extinguishment (238.7) - -
Boardman to Hemingway non-cash net loss - - 27.9
Other, net (19.9) (28.7) (20.4)
Changes in:
Receivables and unbilled revenues 30.6 (78.8) 132.5
Materials and supplies (8.2) (19.5) (11.6)
Prepaid expenses (15.5) (13.1) (18.9)
Accounts payable and other 175.8 151.8 329.1
Regulatory assets and liabilities (48.8) 70.3 (217.2)
10U exchange benefits (244.0) (236.4) (214.8)
Nonfederal nuclear decommissioning trusts (75.5) (128.9) (60.0)
Other assets and liabilities 9.0 89.3 237.4
Net cash provided by operating activities 546.7 544.7 775.9
Cash flows from investing activities
Investment in utility plant, including AFUDC (1,320.1) (1,169.2) (851.9)
Proceeds from sale of utility plant 4.3 2.6 3.2
U.S. Treasury securities:
Purchases - - (250.0)
Maturities - - 750.0
Deposits to nonfederal nuclear decommissioning trusts (15.1) (15.1) (4.9)
Lease-purchase trust funds:

Deposits to - (1.5) -
Receipts from - 4.3 -
Net cash used for investing activities (1,330.9) (1,178.9) (353.6)

Cash flows from financing activities
Federal appropriations:
Proceeds 110.7 126.3 80.5
Repayment (32.8) (26.8) (123.8)
Borrowings from U.S. Treasury:
Proceeds 1,365.3 650.0 722.0
Repayment (841.8) (473.1) (616.9)
Nonfederal debt:
Repayment (80.7) (294.7) (160.4)
Debt extinguishment costs (0.3) - -
Customers:
Net advances for construction 86.1 48.6 84.2
Repayment of funds used for construction (25.2) (22.0) (20.1)
Irrigation assistance - (13.5)
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities 581.3 8.3 (48.0)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (202.9) (625.9) 374.3
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 1,420.2 2,046.1 1,671.8
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 1,217.3 $ 1,420.2 $ 2,046.1
Less: Restricted cash at end of year, reported in Deferred charges and other 10.7 8.2 8.2
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 1,206.6 $ 1,412.0 $ 2,037.9
Supplemental disclosures:
Cash paid for interest, net of amount capitalized $ 501.8 $ 490.7 $ 404.2
Significant noncash activities:
Nonfederal debt increase $ 1,224.6 $ 1,012.5 $ 674.9
Nonfederal debt decrease $ (943.9) $ (802.3) $ (489.9)
Nonfederal debt cost of issuance $ (5.9) $ (5.4) $ (3.4)
Increase in Nonfederal generation asset $ - $ 59.1 $ -
Increase in Regulatory asset $ 16.1 $ - $ -
U.S. Treasury debt extinguishment $ (238.7) $ - $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Combination of entities

The Federal Columbia River Power System (FCRPS) financial statements combine the accounts of the
Bonneville Power Administration (BPA) with the accounts of the federal hydropower generating facilities in the
Pacific Northwest operated by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) and the Bureau of Reclamation
(Reclamation). The FCRPS combined financial statements also include the operations and maintenance costs
of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service for the Lower Snake River Compensation Plan (USFWS LSRCP) facilities.
Consolidated with BPA is a variable interest entity (VIE) of which BPA is the primary beneficiary and from which
BPA leases certain transmission facilities. (See Note 8, Debt and Appropriations, and Note 9, Variable Interest
Entities.)

BPA is a separate and distinct entity within the U.S. Department of Energy; the USACE is part of the

U.S. Department of War; and Reclamation and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service are part of the U.S. Department
of the Interior. Each of the combined entities is separately managed, but the facilities are operated as an
integrated power system with the financial results combined as the FCRPS. BPA is a self-funding federal power
marketing administration that purchases, transmits and markets power for the FCRPS. While the costs of
USACE, Reclamation and USFWS LSRCP projects serve multiple purposes, only the power portion of total
project costs are assigned to the FCRPS through cost allocation processes. All intracompany and
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated from the FCRPS financial statements.

FCRPS financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
of the United States of America. FCRPS financial statements also reflect the Uniform System of Accounts
(USoA) as prescribed for electric public utilities by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC).
FCRPS accounting policies also reflect other specific legislation and directives issued by U.S. government
agencies. All U.S. government properties and income are tax exempt.

Use of estimates

The preparation of FCRPS financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the FCRPS financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Rates and regulatory authority

BPA establishes separate power and transmission rates in accordance with several statutory directives. Rates
proposed by BPA are subject to an extensive formal hearing process, after which they are submitted by BPA
and reviewed by FERC. FERC's review is based on BPA statutes that include a requirement that rates must be
sufficient to ensure repayment of the federal investment in the FCRPS over a reasonable number of years after
first meeting BPA'’s other costs. After the final FERC approval, BPA’s rates may be reviewed by the United
States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit (Ninth Circuit Court) if challenged by parties involved in the rate
proceedings. Petitions seeking such review must be filed within 90 days of the final FERC approval. The Ninth
Circuit Court may either confirm or reject a rate proposed by BPA. BPA'’s rates are not structured to provide a
rate of return on its assets. Rates for the two-year BP-24 rate period began on Oct. 1, 2023, and concluded on
Sept. 30, 2025. On Oct. 1, 2025, new rates for fiscal years 2026-2028 went into effect.

In accordance with authoritative guidance for regulated operations, certain costs or credits may be included in
rates for recovery or refund over a future period and are recorded as regulatory assets or liabilities. (See
Note 5, Effects of Regulation.)
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Utility plant

Utility plant is stated at original cost and includes federal system hydro generation assets (i.e., Pacific
Northwest generating facilities of the USACE and Reclamation) as well as transmission and other assets. The
costs of substantial additions, major replacements and substantial betterments are capitalized. Costs include
direct labor and materials; payments to contractors; indirect charges for engineering, supervision and certain
overhead items; and an allowance for funds used during construction (AFUDC). Maintenance, repairs and
replacements of items determined to be less than major units of property are charged as incurred to Operations
and maintenance in the Combined Statements of Revenues and Expenses. When utility plant is retired, the
original cost and any net proceeds from the disposition are charged to accumulated depreciation. (See Note 3,
Utility Plant and Nonfederal Generation.)

Depreciation, amortization and accretion

Depreciation of the original cost of generation plant is computed using straight-line methods based on
estimated average service lives of the various classes of property. For transmission plant, depreciation of
original cost and estimated net cost of removal is computed primarily on the straight-line group life method
based on estimated average service lives of the various classes of property. Periodically BPA conducts a
depreciation study on transmission and general plant assets, most recently in fiscal year 2025. BPA updates
depreciation rates based on updated asset lives and net salvage, which considers cost of removal and salvage
proceeds. The estimated net cost of removal is included in depreciation expense. (See Note 3, Utility Plant and
Nonfederal Generation.)

In the event removal costs associated with transmission plant are expected to exceed salvage proceeds, a
reclassification of this negative salvage is made from accumulated depreciation to a regulatory liability. As
actual removal costs are incurred, the associated regulatory liability is reduced. (See Note 5, Effects of
Regulation.)

Amortization expense relates to nonfederal generation assets, certain regulatory assets and finance lease
right-of-use assets. (For further discussion see Note 3, Utility Plant and Nonfederal Generation; Note 5, Effects
of Regulation and Note 4, Leases.)

Accretion expense is recorded throughout the fiscal year in connection with a periodic increase to the Columbia
Generating Station (CGS) asset retirement obligation (ARO) liability to reflect the passage of time. (For further
discussion see Note 6, Asset Retirement Obligations.)

Allowance for funds used during construction

AFUDC represents the estimated cost of interest on financing the construction of new assets. AFUDC is
calculated based on the construction work in progress balance and on Lease-Purchase Program trust fund
balances held for construction purposes. (See Note 7, Deferred Charges and Other.) AFUDC is charged to the
capitalized cost of the utility plant asset and is a reduction of Interest expense and other income, net in the
Combined Statements of Revenues and Expenses.

AFUDC is capitalized at one rate for construction funded substantially by BPA and at another rate for USACE
and Reclamation construction funded by congressional appropriations. (See Note 3, Utility Plant and
Nonfederal Generation.) The BPA rate is determined based on the weighted-average cost of borrowing for
certain types of debt and deferred credits that are related to BPA construction activity. The rate for appropriated
funds is provided at the beginning of each year to BPA by the U.S. Treasury.

Nonfederal generation

BPA is party to long-term contracts for BPA to acquire all of the generating capability of Energy Northwest's
CGS nuclear power plant and Lewis County PUD’s (Public Utility District’'s) Cowlitz Falls Hydroelectric Project.
CGS is a nonfederal nuclear power plant owned and operated by Energy Northwest, a joint operating agency of
the state of Washington. The current license termination dates for CGS and the Cowlitz Falls Project are in
December 2043 and May 2036, respectively. BPA has acquired the output of CGS and the Cowlitz Falls

Project through December 2043 and June 30, 2032, respectively. These contracts require BPA to meet all of
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the facilities’ operating, maintenance and debt service costs. Operations and maintenance expense for these
projects are recognized based upon annual total project cash funding requirements, which vary from year to
year.

Nonfederal generation assets on the Combined Balance Sheets are amortized on a straight-line basis, with the
amortization expense included in Depreciation, amortization and accretion in the Combined Statements of
Revenues and Expenses. CGS is amortized through the current license termination date in 2043. Beginning in
fiscal year 2024, in alignment with the BP-24 rate case, the amortization period for the Cowlitz Falls Project
changed from the license termination date in 2036 to align with the period in which BPA is contracted to receive
the output of the Cowlitz Falls Project, which ends in 2032. As of Sept. 30, 2025, the CGS Nonfederal
generation asset also includes approximately $207 million of prepaid nuclear fuel purchased by Energy
Northwest in fiscal years 2021 and 2025 that management anticipates CGS will begin using in 2031. Future
amortization expense is expected to occur over the years in which the fuel will be used. As of Sept. 30, 2024,
the CGS Nonfederal generation asset included approximately $98 million of prepaid nuclear fuel purchased by
Energy Northwest.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash amounts for the FCRPS include cash and cash equivalents in the Bonneville Power Administration Fund
(Bonneville Fund) within the U.S. Treasury and cash from certain unexpended appropriations of the USACE
and Reclamation related to the FCRPS. As of Sept. 30, 2024, cash amounts also included cash held in a
margin account with BPA'’s financial futures broker, which BPA could access within one day. Cash equivalents
in the Bonneville Fund consist of investments in non-marketable market-based special securities issued by the
U.S. Treasury with original maturities of 90 days or less at the date of investment. The carrying value of cash
and cash equivalents approximates fair value.

Concentrations of credit risks
General credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the FCRPS to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of BPA
accounts receivable. Credit risk relates to the loss that might occur as a result of counterparty non-performance.

BPA’s accounts receivable are spread across a diverse group of customers throughout the western United
States and Canada, and include consumer-owned utilities (COUs), investor-owned utilities (I0Us), power
marketers, wind generators and others. BPA’s accounts receivable exposure is generally from large and stable
counterparties and does not represent a significant concentration of credit risk. During fiscal years 2025, 2024
and 2023, BPA experienced no material losses as a result of any customer defaults or bankruptcy filings.

BPA mitigates credit risk by reviewing counterparties for creditworthiness, establishing credit limits and
monitoring credit exposure. To further manage credit risk, BPA obtains credit support, such as letters of credit,
parental guarantees, and cash in the form of prepayments, deposits or escrow funds, from some
counterparties. BPA monitors counterparties for changes in financial condition and regularly updates credit
reviews. (See Note 12, Risk Management and Derivative Instruments.)

Allowance for credit losses

Management reviews accounts receivable to determine if any receivable will potentially be uncollectible. The
allowance for credit losses includes amounts estimated through an evaluation of specific customer accounts,
based upon the best available facts and circumstances of customers that may be unable to meet their financial
obligations, and a reserve for all other customers based on historical experience. The allowance is not material
to the financial statements.

Derivative instruments

Derivative instruments consist primarily of forward electricity contracts and are measured at fair value and

recognized on the Combined Balance Sheets as either Deferred charges and other or as Deferred credits and
other. Changes in fair value are deferred as either Regulatory assets or Regulatory liabilities on the Combined
Balance Sheets in accordance with regulated operations accounting guidance. Recognition of these contracts
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in the Combined Statements of Revenues and Expenses occurs in Sales or Purchased power when the
contracts settle. BPA elects the normal purchases and normal sales exception under derivatives and hedging
accounting guidance for certain contracts that require physical delivery, are expected to be used or sold in the
normal course of business and meet the derivative accounting definition of a capacity contract. The FCRPS
does not apply hedge accounting. (See Note 12, Risk Management and Derivative Instruments.)

Fair value

Carrying amounts of current assets and current liabilities approximate fair value based on the short-term nature
of these instruments. Fair value measurements are applied to certain financial assets and liabilities and to
determine fair value disclosures in accordance with GAAP. When developing fair value measurements, it is
BPA'’s policy to use quoted market prices whenever available or to maximize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs when quoted market prices are not available. Fair values are primarily
developed using industry standard models that consider various inputs including quoted forward prices for
commodities, time value, volatility factors, current market and contractual prices for underlying instruments,
market interest rates and yield curves, and credit spreads, as well as other relevant economic measures. (See
Note 12, Risk Management and Derivative Instruments and Note 13, Fair Value Measurements.)

Operating revenues and net revenues

Sales include estimated unbilled revenues. (See Note 2, Revenue Recognition.) Net revenues over time are
committed to payment of operational obligations, including debt for both operating and non-operating nonfederal
projects, debt service on bonds BPA issues to the U.S. Treasury, the repayment of federal appropriations for the
FCRPS, and the payment of certain irrigation costs.

U.S. Treasury credits

U.S. Treasury credits represent nonpower-related costs that BPA recovers from the U.S. Treasury in
accordance with certain laws. (See Note 2, Revenue Recognition.)

Purchased power

Purchased power expense represents wholesale power purchases that are meant to augment the FCRPS
resource pool to meet loads and obligations. In addition, this expense includes the costs of certain water
storage agreements between BPA and third parties. Purchased power excludes operations and maintenance
expenses associated with CGS and the Cowlitz Falls Hydroelectric Project, and with certain contracts for
renewable resources that BPA management considers part of the FCRPS resource pool.

Interest expense

Interest expense includes interest associated with bonds issued by BPA to the U.S. Treasury, nonfederal debt
related to operating or terminated nonfederal generation assets, nonfederal debt related to the Lease-Purchase
Program, the unpaid balance of federal appropriations scheduled for repayment, and other nonfederal debt and
certain liabilities. In addition, interest expense includes the amortization of bond discounts and costs of
issuance. Reductions to interest expense include the amortization of bond premiums and a capitalization
adjustment regulatory liability. (See Note 5, Effects of Regulation.)

Irrigation assistance

As directed by law, BPA is required to establish rates sufficient to make distributions to the U.S. Treasury for
original construction costs of certain Pacific Northwest irrigation projects for which the costs have been
determined to be beyond the irrigators’ ability to pay. These irrigation distributions do not specifically relate to
power generation. In establishing power rates, particular statutory provisions guide the assumptions that BPA
makes as to the amount and timing of such distributions.

BPA is required by the Grand Coulee Dam - Third Powerplant Act to demonstrate that reimbursable costs of
the FCRPS will be returned to the U.S. Treasury from BPA within the period prescribed by law. BPA is required
to make a similar demonstration for the costs of irrigation projects to the extent the costs have been determined
to be beyond the irrigators’ ability to repay. These requirements are met by conducting power repayment
studies including schedules of distributions at the proposed rates to demonstrate repayment of principal within
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the allowable repayment period. Irrigation assistance excludes $40.3 million for Teton Dam, which failed prior
to completion and for which BPA has no obligation to repay.

The irrigation assistance payment is a required component of the broader payment made to the U.S.
Treasury each year. As such, BPA has an outstanding liability and a corresponding regulatory asset
representing the BPA Administrator’s decision to defer expense recognition to future rate periods. (See
Note 5, Effects of Regulation, and Note 11, Deferred Credits and Other.) Prior to fiscal year 2024,
distributions were not considered to be regular operating costs of the power program and were treated as
distributions from accumulated net revenues when paid. Beginning with fiscal year 2024, these distributions
are recorded as a non-operating expense in the year of payment and in connection with the amortization of
the regulatory asset.

Interest income

Interest income includes interest earnings on market-based special securities in the Bonneville Fund and
interest earnings from other sources.

Other, net

Other, net primarily includes gains and losses incurred because of early federal and nonfederal debt
extinguishment. Net gains and losses due to debt extinguishment were $241.8 million, $4 million and $5 million
in fiscal years 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. (See Note 8, Debt and Appropriations.) In addition, dividend
income and realized gains and losses associated with the nonfederal nuclear decommissioning trust for CGS
are recorded to this caption. In fiscal year 2023, Other, net also included $31 million net non-cash expense
related to the “Boardman to Hemingway (B2H) with Transfer Service” transaction in March 2023. For further
information on the B2H transaction, see Note 7, Deferred Charges and Other.

Residential Exchange Program

In order to provide residential and small farm customers of qualifying regional utilities, primarily IOUs, access to
power benefits from the FCRPS, Congress established the Residential Exchange Program (REP) in Section 5(c)
of The Pacific Northwest Electric Power Planning and Conservation Act (Northwest Power Act). Whenever a
Pacific Northwest electric utility offers to sell power to BPA at the utility’s average system cost of resources, BPA
purchases such power and offers, in exchange, to sell an equivalent amount of power at BPA'’s priority firm
exchange rate to the utility for resale to that utility’s residential and small farm consumers. No physical power is
transmitted. Rather, the REP functions exclusively as a net financial transaction; wherein, higher-cost utilities
participating in the REP receive benefits payments from BPA and entirely pass-through these monies to their
eligible residential and small farm customers. REP costs are forecast for each year of the rate period and included
in the revenue requirement for establishing BPA’s power rates. REP costs are recognized when incurred and are
included in Operations and maintenance in the Combined Statements of Revenues and Expenses.

In fiscal year 2011, BPA signed the 2012 Residential Exchange Program Settlement Agreement (2012 REP
Settlement Agreement), resolving disputes related to the REP. The 2012 REP Settlement Agreement provided
for fixed “Scheduled Amounts” payable to the IOUs through fiscal year 2028. (See Note 10, Residential
Exchange Program.)

Pension and other postretirement benefits

Federal employees associated with the operation of the FCRPS participate in either the Federal Employees
Retirement System or the Civil Service Retirement System. Employees may also participate after retirement in
the Federal Employees Health and Benefit Program and the Federal Employees Group Life Insurance
Program. All such postretirement systems and programs are sponsored by the U.S. Office of Personnel
Management; therefore, the FCRPS financial statements do not include accumulated plan assets or liabilities
related to the administration of such programs. As part of BPA’s scheduled payment each year to the

U.S. Treasury for bonds and other purposes, BPA makes contributions to cover the estimated annual unfunded
portion, if any, of FCRPS pension and postretirement benefits. These contribution amounts are paid to the U.S.
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Treasury and are recorded as Operations and maintenance in the Combined Statements of Revenues and
Expenses during the year to which the payment relates.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management has performed an evaluation of events and transactions for potential FCRPS recognition or
disclosure through Oct. 31, 2025, which is the date the financial statements were issued.

2. Revenue Recognition

DISAGGREGATED REVENUE

Years ended Sept. 30 - millions of dollars 2025 2024 2023
Sales
Power
Firm $ 2,283.7 $ 2,0346 $ 1,817.0
Surplus’ 632.4 972.5 962.4
Transmission 1,193.7 1,178.6 1,097.2
Other? 92.8 121.1 109.0
Sales $ 4,202.6 $ 43068 $ 3,985.6
U.S. Treasury credits® 165.4 262.4 262.3
Total operating revenues* $ 4,368.0 $ 4,569.2 $ 4,247.9

1 Surplus revenue includes $95.5 million, $300.7 million, and $227.9 million of derivative commodity contracts and related
operational hedging activity for fiscal years 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively, which are not considered revenue from contracts
with customers under ASC 606. For further information, see additional disclosure below.

2 Other revenue includes $19.9 million, $56.5 million and $42.6 million for fiscal years 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively, that are
not classified as revenue from contracts with customers under ASC 606. For further information, see additional disclosure below.
3U.S. Treasury credits are not classified as revenue from contracts with customers under ASC 606. For further information, see
additional disclosure below.

“Revenue from contracts with customers was $4,087.2 million, $3,949.6 million and $3,715.1 million for fiscal years 2025, 2024
and 2023, respectively.

SALES

A substantial majority of FCRPS revenues is from rate-regulated sales of power and transmission products and
services. All revenues are from contracts with customers except for U.S. Treasury credits, derivatives and
certain other revenues as shown in the table above. BPA establishes rates for its power and transmission
services in a formal rate proceeding. The power and transmission rate schedules and general rate schedule
provisions establish the rates, billing determinants, and rate provisions applicable to all BPA power and
transmission contracts. Charges for services specified in the rate schedules and their provisions represent the
amount billed by BPA for the goods or services used and purchased by its customers.

BPA has elected to apply the right-to-invoice practical expedient to FCRPS rate-regulated revenues from power
and transmission services. Amounts invoiced correspond directly with the value to the customers for energy or
services provided by the FCRPS reporting entities. Therefore, revenue from power and transmission sales,
which includes billed and estimated unbilled amounts, is recognized over time upon the delivery of energy or
services to the customers. The customers receive and benefit from the value of power and transmission at the
time of delivery. Payments for amounts billed by BPA are generally due from customers within 20 days of
billing. There are no material significant financing components.

“Firm” power consists of energy, capacity, or both, that is guaranteed to be available to the customer at all
times during the period covered by a contract, except by reason of certain uncontrollable forces or service
interruption provisions. The Northwest Power Act obligates BPA to meet a utility customer’s firm consumer load
net of the customer’s resources used to serve its load. In addition, BPA sells firm power to other federal
agencies and to a direct service industrial customer within the region for their direct consumption. The vast
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majority of firm power sold by BPA in fiscal years 2025, 2024 and 2023 was to preference customers, which
make long-term power purchases from BPA at cost-based rates to meet their retail loads in the region.
Preference customers are qualifying public utility districts, municipalities, consumer-owned electric
cooperatives, and tribal utilities within the region. BPA’s current power sales agreements with preference
customers are in effect through fiscal year 2028.

“Surplus” power consists of energy and capacity that can be provided on an hourly or other short-term basis
that is surplus to meeting certain firm loads as defined in the Northwest Power Act. BPA often describes the
sale of surplus power as secondary sales. Most surplus power is sold to Pacific Northwest and California
markets under short-term power sales that allow for flexible negotiated prices, or under longer-term contracts.
The availability of surplus power depends primarily on precipitation and reservoir storage levels, performance
of the Columbia Generating Station, BPA’s firm power load obligations and other factors. Secondary revenues
from the sale of surplus power are highly variable and depend on market conditions and the resulting prices.
Amounts disclosed are net of bookouts, which occur when sales and purchases are scheduled with the same
counterparty on the same path for the same hour.

Also included within Surplus sales are revenues from derivative commodity contracts in scope of ASC 815,
Derivatives and Hedging, which are not considered revenue from contracts with customers under ASC 606.
Derivative revenues are reported net of bookouts and primarily source from certain secondary power contracts
that involve derivative instruments. (For further information on derivatives, see Note 1, Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies, and Note 12, Risk Management and Derivative Instruments.)

“Transmission” revenues consist primarily of revenue for the transmission of power on BPA’s network within
and through the BPA service area. Point-to-point long-term contracts exceeding one year comprise the majority
of network revenues and allow customers to move energy on a firm basis from a point of receipt to a point of
delivery. In addition, Network Integration Transmission Service delivers power to load within BPA'’s balancing
authority area and is a significant component of transmission revenues. Revenue from ancillary services and
the Southern Intertie also comprise a significant portion of transmission revenues. Ancillary services ensure
transmission grid reliability and include items such as scheduling, dispatch, balancing reserves and other
services. The Southern Intertie is a system of transmission lines used primarily to transmit power between the
Pacific Northwest and California. The majority of intertie revenue is from long-term contracts exceeding one
year in duration. Transmission customers include entities that buy and sell non-federal power in the region, in-
region purchasers of federal power, generators, power marketers and utilities that seek to transmit power into,
out of or through the region.

“Other” revenues source primarily from the sales of power and other services or items by Reclamation and
USACE. In particular, Reclamation sells power to certain Pacific Northwest irrigation districts. Other revenues
also include reimbursable revenues associated with work performed for BPA customers. Reimbursable
revenues are offset by an equivalent amount of reimbursable expenses.

Also included within other revenues are the following types of revenue not with customers: leasing fees that
BPA receives as the lessor of certain fiber optic cables and other assets; revenue from deferred project

revenue funded in advance, which is recognized over the life of the corresponding transmission assets once
placed in service and reduces the associated liability; and realized gains on financial futures contracts. (See
Note 11, Deferred Credits and Other for further information on deferred project revenue funded in advance.)

U.S. TREASURY CREDITS

U.S. Treasury credits represent BPA'’s recovery of certain nonpower-related costs from the U.S. Treasury in
accordance with certain laws. The primary U.S. Treasury credit is the 4(h)(10)(C) credit provided for in the
Northwest Power Act. This Act requires BPA to recover the nonpower portion of expenditures—set at
22.3%—that BPA makes for fish and wildlife protection, mitigation and enhancement. Through Section
4(h)(10)(C), the Northwest Power Act ensures that the costs of mitigating these impacts are allocated
between the power-related and other purposes of the federal hydroelectric projects of the FCRPS.
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Power-related costs are recovered in BPA’s rates. U.S. Treasury credits are reported as a component of
Operating revenues in the Combined Statements of Revenues and Expenses.

As part of its annual payment to the U.S. Treasury, BPA applies the U.S. Treasury credits earned each fiscal
year against various categories of payment obligations. For example, BPA may apply U.S. Treasury credits
against interest expense or liabilities such as borrowings from U.S. Treasury and federal appropriations.
CONTRACT BALANCES

As of Sept. 30 — millions of dollars 2025 2024

Receivable assets

Accounts receivable, net of allowance $ 42.3 $ 95.4

Accrued unbilled revenues 370.7 348.2
Contract liabilities

Customer prepaid power purchases $ 85.7 $ 111.7

Third AC Intertie capacity agreements 79.9 80.2

Unearned revenue from customer deposits 101.4 73.9

Revenue recognized during the fiscal year from
amounts included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the year $ 99.4 $ 98.2

Accounts receivable and accrued unbilled revenues source primarily from contracts with customers.

Contract liabilities represent an entity’s unsatisfied performance obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer from which the entity has received consideration. The contract liability amounts in the table above
show expected future revenues to be recorded as power is delivered (for customer prepaid power purchases),
over the estimated life of transmission assets placed in service (for Third AC Intertie capacity agreements), or
as expenditures are incurred (for unearned revenue from customer deposits). These contract liabilities have no
variable consideration and require little or no significant judgment in revenue recognition. The average contract
term varies by customer and type and may span several years. (See Note 8, Debt and Appropriations, for
further information on customer prepaid power purchases, and Note 11, Deferred Credits and Other, for further
information on Third AC Intertie capacity agreements and unearned revenue from customer deposits.)
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3. Utility Plant and Nonfederal Generation

2025 Estimated
As of Sept. 30 — millions of dollars 2025 2024 average service
lives

Completed plant

Federal system hydro generation assets $ 10,458.1 $ 10,507.4 75 years
Transmission assets 12,5791 11,624.3 51 years
Other assets 105.2 104.2 8 years
Completed plant $ 23,142.4 $ 22,235.9

Accumulated depreciation

Federal system hydro generation assets $ (4,253.1) $ (4,266.0)
Transmission assets (4,631.7) (4,284.7)
Other assets (62.5) (54.2)
Accumulated depreciation $ (8,947.3) $ (8,604.9)

Construction work in progress

Federal system hydro generation assets $ 804.0 $ 693.5
Transmission assets 1,653.2 1,507.8
Other assets 24.8 35.1
Construction work in progress $ 2,482.0 $ 2,236.4
Nonfederal generation $ 35812 3,410.0
Net utility plant and nonfederal generation $ 20,258.3 $ 19,277.4

Allowance for funds used during construction

Fiscal year 2025 2024 2023
BPA rate 3.3% 3.3% 3.0%
Appropriated rate 4.3% 5.5% 3.6%

Amounts accrued in Accounts payable and other on the Combined Balance Sheets for Construction work in
progress assets were approximately $160 million, $168 million, and $122 million as of Sept. 30, 2025, 2024,
and 2023, respectively.

In February 2025, BPA completed a depreciation study on BPA’s transmission and general plant assets. BPA
implemented revised depreciation rates effective March 2025 on applicable assets. The average service lives
for transmission assets have remained the same at 51 years, but higher cost of removal and negative salvage
estimates resulted in slightly higher monthly depreciation expense beginning in March 2025.

48 — BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION



4. Leases

An arrangement contains a lease if a lessee has the right to control an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. At contract inception, management determines whether an arrangement
contains a lease and lease classification, if applicable. At the lease commencement date, lease right-of-use
(ROU) assets and lease liabilities are recorded based upon the present value of lease payments over the
lease term, including initial direct costs, if any. If a contract provides an implicit rate, it is used to determine
the present value of future lease payments. If a contract does not provide an implicit rate, management uses
the incremental borrowing rate available at lease commencement. Operating lease ROU assets include any
lease payments made at or before the commencement date and exclude lease incentives.

Certain lease arrangements contain renewal or early termination options. If management is reasonably
certain to exercise these options, they are included in the calculation of the ROU asset and lease liability by
incorporating the option into the lease term. Certain renewal options include an adjustment to future lease
cost based upon various factors, such as pre-determined percentage increases, the Consumer Price Index,
or other methods. Management has also elected to account for arrangements with lease and non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Operating leases are primarily for office spaces and leased vehicles. Operating lease terms range from less
than one year to 33 years. Finance leases are primarily for transmission lines and equipment. Finance lease
terms range from 2 to 62 years. There were no material lessor arrangements as of Sept. 30, 2025, and 2024.

The following table provides supplemental balance sheet information related to leases:

As of Sept. 30 — millions of dollars Financ.ial Statement 2025 2024
Line Item

Operating leases

ROU assets Deferred charges and other $ 90.9 $ 101.3
Short-term lease liability Accounts payable and other 17.5 14.6
Long-term lease liability Deferred credits and other 73.4 86.8

Finance leases

ROU assets Completed plant $ 93.7 $ 97.7
Short-term lease liability Nonfederal debt 6.2 5.8
Long-term lease liability Nonfederal debt 94.5 97.5

The following table provides supplemental expense information related to total lease costs:

Years ended Sept. 30 — millions of Financial Statement 2025 2024 2023
dollars Line Item
Operating lease cost ! Operations and maintenance $ 180 $ 188 $ 18.7

Finance lease cost:
Depreciation, amortization and

Amortization of ROU assets . 7.3 6.0 52
accretion

Interest on lease liabilities Interest expense 5.2 5.2 5.1

Total lease costs $ 305 $ 300 $ 29.0

" Includes variable lease costs, which were immaterial for the fiscal years ended Sept. 30, 2025, 2024 and 2023.
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As of Sept. 30 2025 2024
Weighted-average remaining lease term
Operating leases 6.2 years 7.0 years
Finance leases 45.7 years 46.1 years
Weighted-average discount rate
Operating leases 3.2% 3.2%
Finance leases 5.1% 5.1%
The following table provides supplemental cash flow information related to leases:
Years ended Sept. 30 - millions of dollars 2025 2024 2023
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease
liabilities
Operating cash outflows:
Operating lease payments $ 18.0 $ 18.8 $ 18.7
Interest on finance leases 5.2 5.2 51
Financing cash outflows:
Principal payments on finance lease 54 5.7 4.4
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new lease obligations
Operating leases 44 26.5 9.3
Finance leases 3.3 4.5 8.2
The following table provides maturities of operating lease liabilities:
As of Sept. 30 - millions of dollars
2026 $ 18.9
2027 17.9
2028 17.7
2029 14.4
2030 14.5
2031 and thereafter 17.7
Total undiscounted lease liabilities $ 101.1
Less: Amounts representing interest 10.2
Total lease liabilities $ 90.9

See Note 8, Debt and Appropriations, for finance lease maturity analysis.
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5. Effects of Regulation

Regulatory assets include the following items:

REGULATORY ASSETS

As of Sept. 30 — millions of dollars 2025 2024
Terminated nuclear facilities $ 1,286.5 $ 1,355.0
IOU exchange benefits 818.8 1,062.8
Columbia River Fish Mitigation 705.5 725.4
Phase 2 Implementation Plan (P2IP) Settlement Agreement 252.8 252.8
Irrigation assistance 219.6 227.6
Fish and wildlife measures 210.5 206.8
Trojan decommissioning and site restoration 110.5 94.6
Spacer damper replacement program 40.2 431
Legal claims and settlements 22.0 22.0
Federal Employees’ Compensation Act 20.0 21.0
Conservation measures 9.6 26.0
Other 24 3.1
Derivative instruments 2.3 1.7
Resilient Columbia Basin Agreement - Six Sovereigns — 111.2
Terminated hydro facilities — 0.3

Total $ 3,700.7 $ 4,153.4

“Terminated nuclear facilities” consist of amounts to be recovered in future rates to satisfy the nonfederal debt for
Energy Northwest Projects 1 and 3. These assets are amortized to depreciation, amortization and accretion
through 2043, as established in the rate case.

“IOU exchange benefits” reflect amounts to be recovered in rates through 2028 for the Investor-Owned Utility (IOU)
exchange benefits liability incurred as part of the 2012 REP Settlement Agreement. These amounts are amortized
to operations and maintenance expense. (See Note 10, Residential Exchange Program.)

“Columbia River Fish Mitigation” is the cost of research and development for fish bypass facilities funded through
appropriations since 1989 in accordance with the Energy and Water Development Appropriations Act of 1989,
Public Law 100-371. Through fiscal year 2021, these costs were recovered in rates over 75 years and amortized to
depreciation, amortization and accretion expense. Beginning in fiscal year 2022, these costs are no longer
deferred and are instead recorded as operations and maintenance expense when incurred. In addition, beginning
in fiscal year 2022 the amortization period for remaining deferred amounts has changed from 75 years to 50 years
as stated in the BP-22 rate case.

“‘Phase 2 Implementation Plan (P2IP) Settlement Agreement” represents the deferral of expenses related to the
P2IP settlement agreement signed in September 2023. BPA expects that these costs will be recovered through
future rates. Beginning in 2026, and in alignment with the BP-26 rate case, these amounts will be amortized to
operations and maintenance expense through 2043. (For further information on the P2IP transaction, see Note 11,
Deferred Credits and Other.)

“Irrigation assistance” reflects the amount to be recovered in future rates through 2045 in connection with the
annual irrigation assistance payment made to the U.S. Treasury. Amortization of these costs will be recorded as
non-operating expenses under Irrigation assistance on the Combined Statements of Revenues and Expenses in
the year of payment. (For further information on Irrigation assistance, see Note 1, Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies and Note 11, Deferred Credits and Other.)

“Fish and wildlife measures” consist of deferred fish and wildlife project expenses to be recovered in future rates.
These costs are amortized to depreciation, amortization and accretion expense over a period of 15 years.

“Trojan decommissioning and site restoration” reflects the amount to be recovered in future rates for funding the
asset retirement obligation (ARO) liability related to the former Trojan nuclear facility through 2059. This amount
equals the associated liability. (See Note 6, Asset Retirement Obligations.)
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“Spacer damper replacement program” consists of costs to replace deteriorated spacer dampers on certain
transmission lines and are recovered in future rates under the Spacer Damper Replacement Program. These costs
are amortized to depreciation, amortization and accretion expense over a period of 25 or 30 years.

“Legal claims and settlements” reflect amounts to be recovered in future rates to satisfy accrued liabilities related to
legal claims and settlements. These costs will be recovered and amortized to operations and maintenance
expense over a period to be established during future rate cases.

“Federal Employees’ Compensation Act’ reflects the actuarial estimated amount of future payments for current
recipients of BPA’'s worker compensation benefits. This amount equals the associated liability, and related
expenses are recorded to operations and maintenance expense as payments are made. (See Note 11, Deferred
Credits and Other.)

“Conservation measures” consist of the costs of deferred energy conservation measures to be recovered in future
rates. These costs are amortized to depreciation, amortization and accretion expense over periods of 12 or
20 years. BPA deferred certain costs of energy conservation measures through fiscal year 2015 and, beginning
with fiscal year 2016, began recording such costs as operations and maintenance expense when incurred.

“Derivative instruments” reflect the unrealized losses from BPA's derivative portfolio. These amounts are deferred over
the corresponding underlying contract delivery months. (See Note 12, Risk Management and Derivative Instruments.)

“‘Resilient Columbia Basin Agreement — Six Sovereigns” represented the expected deferral of expenses related to
the settlement agreement signed in December 2023 between BPA and certain state and tribal partners, collectively
known as the Six Sovereigns. Prior to June 2025, BPA expected that the costs associated with this agreement
would be recovered through future rates. However, in June 2025, the White House issued a Presidential
Memorandum directing BPA and other federal partners to withdraw from this agreement. As such, BPA no
longer expects to recover any amounts related to this agreement in future rates and has derecognized this
regulatory asset and an associated liability. (For further information on this transaction, see Note 11, Deferred
Credits and Other.)

“Terminated hydro facilities” consist of the amounts to be recovered in future rates to satisfy nonfederal debt for
the Northern Wasco Hydro Project, for which BPA ceased its participation as recipient of the project’s electric
power. These assets were amortized to depreciation, amortization and accretion through 2025, as established in
the rate case. (See Note 8, Debt and Appropriations.)

Regulatory liabilities include the following items:

REGULATORY LIABILITIES

As of Sept. 30 — millions of dollars 2025 2024
Accumulated plant removal costs $ 765.0 $ 709.2
Capitalization adjustment 693.1 758.0
Decommissioning and site restoration 93.5 36.4
Derivative instruments 9.1 18.8

Total $ 1,560.7 $ 1,5622.4

“Accumulated plant removal costs” represent a liability for amounts previously collected through rates as part of
depreciation expense. The liability increases as depreciation expense is incurred and is reduced as actual costs of
removal, net of proceeds, are incurred. (See Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.)

“Capitalization adjustment” is the difference between the outstanding balance of federal appropriations, plus
$100 million, before and after refinancing under the BPA Refinancing Section of the Omnibus Consolidated
Rescissions and Appropriations Act of 1996, 16 U.S.C. 838(l). Consistent with treatment in BPA’s power and
transmission rate cases, this adjustment is amortized over a 40-year period through fiscal year 2036. Amortization
of the capitalization adjustment as a reduction to interest expense was $64.9 million each year for fiscal years
2025, 2024 and 2023.

“Decommissioning and site restoration” represents unrealized gains in the nonfederal nuclear decommissioning trust
assets for the Columbia Generating Station. (See Note 6, Asset Retirement Obligations.)

“Derivative instruments” reflect the unrealized gains from BPA’s derivative portfolio. These amounts are deferred over
the corresponding underlying contract delivery months. (See Note 12, Risk Management and Derivative Instruments.)
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6. Asset Retirement Obligations

Asset retirement obligations include the following items:

As of Sept. 30 — millions of dollars 2025 2024
CGS decommissioning and site restoration $ 1,063.8 $ 1,020.7
Trojan decommissioning 110.5 94.6
Energy Northwest Projects 1 and 4 site restoration 2.8 29

Total $ 1,177.1 $ 1,118.2

AROs represent the legal obligations associated with the future retirement of certain tangible, long-lived assets.
FCRPS AROs are recognized based on the estimated fair value of the dismantlement and restoration costs,
primarily associated with the retirement of the Columbia Generating Station. BPA also has AROs for a 30%
share of the former Trojan nuclear power plant decommissioning activities and for certain Energy Northwest-
related site restoration activities. ARO liabilities are adjusted for any revisions, expenditures and the passage of
time.

As of Sept. 30 — millions of dollars 2025 2024 2023
Beginning Balance $ 1,118.2 $ 1,015.1 $ 964.3
Activities:
Accretion 46.4 42.8 40.2
Expenditures (5.3) (5.6) (5.5)
Revisions 17.8 65.9 16.1
Ending Balance $ 1,177 .1 $ 1,118.2 $ 1,015.1

In fiscal year 2024, and as a result of a 2024 site-specific decommissioning study for CGS, BPA management
increased the estimate for the CGS ARO liability by $59.1 million. This change in estimate was largely driven
by higher labor costs, increases in low-level radioactive waste disposal rates and increases in spent fuel cask
procurement and management costs. Actual decommissioning costs may vary from this estimate because of
various factors including future decommissioning dates, requirements, costs and technology. A $59.1 million
increase to the Nonfederal generation asset on the Combined Balance Sheets offset the increased ARO
liability.

Based on agreements in place, BPA directly funds Eugene Water and Electric Board’s 30% share of the former
Trojan nuclear power plant decommissioning activities that consist of long-term operation and
decommissioning of the Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation (ISFSI). BPA funds these costs through
current rates, with the expenses included in Operations and maintenance in the Combined Statements of
Revenues and Expenses. Trojan decommissioning primarily relates to the storage of spent nuclear fuel through
2059 at the former nuclear plant site. Decommissioning of the ISFSI and final site restoration activities is not
expected to occur before 2059, which is the year the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) extended the fuel
storage license through. In fiscal year 2025, BPA management revised the estimate for the Trojan ARO by
$16.1 million. This change in estimate was driven by increases in headcount as mandated by the NRC,
increases in expenditures for aging equipment replacements and inspections and changes in inflation
assumptions. In fiscal year 2024, BPA management revised the estimate for the Trojan ARO liability by

$3.1 million. This change in estimate was driven by the aging management program, headcount and frequency
of cask inspections.

Based on a prior settlement agreement with the DOE, BPA receives an annual reimbursement for certain costs
related to monitoring the spent nuclear fuel. BPA reduces operations and maintenance expense when it
receives the reimbursement, which was $6.6 million, $2.7 million, and $1.8 million in fiscal years 2025, 2024,
and 2023, respectively.
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The FCRPS also has tangible long-lived assets such as federal hydro projects and transmission assets without
an associated ARO because no legal obligation exists to remove these assets.

NONFEDERAL NUCLEAR DECOMMISSIONING TRUSTS

As of Sept. 30 — millions of dollars 2025 2024
Amortized cost Fair value Amortized cost Fair value
Equity securities $ 473.6 $ 597.6 $ 456.5 $ 516.4
Debt securities 132.0 101.6 113.6 89.9
Cash and cash equivalents 14.9 14.9 17.2 17.2
Total $ 620.5 $ 7141 $ 587.3 $ 623.5

These assets are trust fund account balances, primarily for CGS decommissioning and site restoration costs,
but also for site restoration at Energy Northwest Projects 1 and 4, which terminated prior to completion. The fair
value of the trust fund balances for CGS decommissioning and site restoration costs as of Sept. 30, 2025, and
2024 were $699.2 million and $606.3 million, respectively. The investment securities in the CGS
decommissioning and site restoration trust fund accounts comprise both equity and debt securities and are
recorded at fair value in accordance with applicable accounting guidance. Equity securities include both
domestic and international index mutual funds. Debt securities are classified as available-for-sale and include
bond mutual funds that hold inflation-protected securities. BPA holds shares in two mutual funds, one with a fair
value of $51.5 million and an average maturity of 26 years, and the other with a fair value of $50.1 million and
an average maturity of 7 years. The trust fund balances for the site restoration at Energy Northwest Projects 1
and 4 were $14.9 million and $17.2 million, respectively. The site restoration fund for Energy Northwest
Projects 1 and 4 is invested in a money market fund that is considered cash and cash equivalents.

External trust fund accounts for decommissioning and site restoration costs for CGS are funded monthly, with
these contributions recorded as an increase to the trust fund asset. The CGS decommissioning trust fund
account was established to provide for decommissioning at the end of the project’s operations in accordance
with NRC requirements. The NRC requires that this period be no longer than 60 years from the time the plant
ceases operations. Decommissioning funding requirements for CGS are based on a 2024 site-specific
decommissioning study for CGS and the current license termination date, which is in December 2043. The
CGS trust fund accounts are funded and managed by BPA in accordance with NRC requirements and site
certification agreements.

Unrealized gains and losses are recorded to a regulatory liability or regulatory asset, respectively. Realized
gains and losses for CGS are recorded to Other, net in the Combined Statements of Revenues and Expenses
and were considered when establishing rates for fiscal years 2023 through 2025. Realized gains reported for
fiscal years 2025, 2024 and 2023 were $3.9 million, $2.5 million, and $0.1 million, respectively.

Contribution payments to the CGS trust fund accounts for fiscal years 2025, 2024 and 2023 were $15.1 million,
$15.1 million and $4.9 million, respectively. Based on current estimates, BPA and Energy Northwest have no
obligation to make further payments into the site restoration fund for Energy Northwest Projects 1 and 4.
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7. Deferred Charges and Other

Deferred Charges and Other include the following items:

As of Sept. 30 — millions of dollars 2025 2024
Operating leases $ 90.9 $ 101.3
Lease-Purchase trust funds 21.5 22.6
Cloud computing arrangements 10.8 55
Spectrum Relocation Fund 10.7 8.2
Transmission line-related receivables 10.4 10.4
Derivative instruments 9.1 18.8
Other 2.3 2.8

Total $ 155.7 $ 169.6

“Operating leases” represent right-of-use assets that are amortized to operations and maintenance expense over
the term of the related leases. (See Note 4, Leases.)

“Lease-Purchase trust funds” are investments held in separate trust accounts outside the Bonneville Fund for
the construction and administration of leased transmission assets, the use of which BPA has acquired under
lease-purchase agreements. The amounts held in trust are also used in part for debt service payments during
the construction period and include an investment fund mainly for future principal and interest debt service
payments. (See Note 8, Debt and Appropriations.) Interest income and realized and unrealized gains or losses
on amounts held in trust for construction are recorded as AFUDC. Interest income and gains and losses on
other trust balances are recorded as either income or expense in the period when earned. At the time of debt
extinguishment, unspent trust funds under a particular transaction are used to repay the related lease-purchase
debt and associated debt extinguishment costs for that transaction.

The Lease-Purchase trust funds are comprised of held-to-maturity fixed-income investments and cash and cash
equivalents.

Investments classified as held-to-maturity were $18.9 million and $19 million as of Sept. 30, 2025, and 2024,
and are recorded at amortized cost. The fair value of held-to-maturity investments exceeded amortized cost by
approximately $2 million as of Sept. 30, 2025 and 2024. Unrealized gains comprise the difference between
amortized cost and fair value for both years. Held-to-maturity investments as of Sept. 30, 2025, mature in
November 2030.

As of Sept. 30, 2025, and 2024, trust balances also included cash and cash equivalents of $2.6 million and
$3.6 million, respectively.

“Cloud computing arrangements” represent the capitalized implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing
arrangement that is a service contract. These costs are amortized to operations and maintenance expense over
the terms of the respective contracts once placed in service.

“Spectrum Relocation Fund” was created to reimburse certain federal agencies such as BPA for the costs of
replacing radio communication equipment displaced as a result of radio band frequencies no longer available to
the affected federal agencies. In fiscal year 2025, BPA received an additional $2.6 million to fund
telecommunications studies in support of future radio spectrum relocation efforts. These amounts received from
the U.S. Treasury are held as restricted cash in the Bonneville Fund for the sole purpose of constructing
replacement assets or performing preliminary studies. These amounts are the only source of restricted cash
reported on the Combined Statements of Cash Flows.

“Transmission line-related receivables” represent the receivable assets recorded in relation to the March 2023
Boardman to Hemingway with Transfer Service transaction, in which BPA transferred its 24.24% permitting
interest share in the proposed Boardman to Hemingway transmission line to Idaho Power Company (IPC).
Taking into account the time value of money and project risks, the permitting interest transfer resulted in a
$3.4 million financial asset and a corresponding non-cash gain recorded to Other, net in the Combined
Statements of Revenues and Expenses. Additionally, BPA paid IPC a $10 million security payment which, once
adjusted for the time value of money, resulted in a $7 million deferred asset increase, and a $3 million loss
recorded to Other, net.

BPA expects to receive approximately $31 million, plus interest, from IPC over 10 years beginning 10 years after
IPC builds and energizes the B2H transmission line and also reaches service thresholds as defined in the
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aforementioned March 2023 contracts. Additionally, upon energization BPA expects to recover the $10 million
security payment from IPC.

“Derivative instruments” represent unrealized gains from BPA'’s derivative portfolio, which primarily includes
physical power purchase and sale transactions.

8. Debt and Appropriations

As of Sept. 30 — millions of dollars 2025 2024
Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Interest Interest
Terms Carrying Value Rate Carrying Value Rate

Nonfederal debt

Nonfederal generation:

Columbia Generating Station 2.1-5.0% through 2043  § 3,702.4 4.4% $ 3,434.4 4.4%

Cowlitz Falls Hydro Project 4.0 — 5.3% through 2032 42.4 5.1 47.3 5.1
Terminated nonfederal generation:

Nuclear Project 1 4.0 — 5.0% through 2042 815.6 47 829.0 4.8

Nuclear Project 3 3.1 - 5.0% through 2042 960.9 4.8 967.4 4.8

Northern Wasco Hydro Project n/a — n/a 1.9 5.0
Lease-Purchase Program:

Lease-purchase liability 2.4 - 5.7% through 2048 1,653.6 3.1 1,671.7 2.9

NIFC debt 5.4% through 2034 119.2 5.4 119.1 54
Finance lease liability 1.3 — 6.9% through 2087 100.7 5.1 103.3 5.1
Other financial liability 3.4% through 2043 14.8 3.4 15.4 3.4
Customer prepaid power purchases 4.3 — 4.6% through 2028 85.7 4.5 111.7 4.5

Total Nonfederal debt $ 7,495.3 42% % 7,301.2 4.2%

Federal debt and appropriations

Borrowings from U.S. Treasury 0.9 - 5.9% through 2054  $ 6,245.5 3.5% $ 5,960.7 3.4%
Federal appropriations 1.4 — 4.4% through 2075 1,087.1 3.2 1,110.7 3.2
Federal appropriations (not scheduled for repayment) 687.9 n/a 586.4 n/a
Total Federal debt and appropriations $ 8,020.5 3.5% $ 7,657.8 3.3%
Total debt and appropriations $ 15,515.8 3.9% $ 14,959.0 3.8%

NONFEDERAL DEBT

Nonfederal generation and Terminated nonfederal generation

As described in Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Nonfederal generation section, BPA is
party to long-term contracts for BPA to acquire all of the generating capability of Energy Northwest’s Columbia
Generating Station and, through June 2032, all of Lewis County PUD’s Cowlitz Falls Hydroelectric Project.
Under certain agreements, BPA also has financial responsibility for meeting all costs of Energy Northwest’s
Projects 1 and 3, including debt service costs of bonds and other financial instruments issued for the projects,
even though these projects have been terminated. BPA was also required by a “Settlement and Termination
Agreement” between BPA and Northern Wasco PUD to pay amounts equal to annual debt service on certain
bonds of the Northern Wasco Hydro Project. Under the Settlement and Termination Agreement, BPA ceased
its participation in this project.

Cowlitz Falls Hydroelectric Project debt of $42.4 million is callable, in whole or in part, at Lewis County PUD’s
option with the approval of BPA, at 100% of the principal amount plus accrued interest.
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BPA recognizes certain expenses for these nonfederal generation and terminated nonfederal generation projects
based on annual total project cash funding requirements, which include interest expense and operating and
maintenance expense. BPA recognized operating and maintenance expense for these projects of $395.1 million,
$331.5 million and $327 million in fiscal years 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively, which is included in Operations
and maintenance in the Combined Statements of Revenues and Expenses. On the Combined Balance Sheets,
related assets for CGS and the Cowlitz Falls Hydroelectric Project are included in Nonfederal generation. Related
assets for terminated nonfederal generation are included in Regulatory assets. (See Note 5, Effects of
Regulation.)

During fiscal years 2025 and 2024, BPA recorded gains of $3.4 million and $2 million when certain Energy
Northwest debt was extinguished via the issuance of long-term debt. BPA recorded no similar gains or losses
during fiscal year 2023.

Energy Northwest debt of $3.12 billion is callable, in whole or in part, at Energy Northwest’s option with the
approval of BPA, on call dates between July 2026 and July 2035 at 100% of the principal amount.

Lease-Purchase Program

Under the Lease-Purchase Program, BPA has incurred financial liabilities for lease-purchase transactions
with certain third-party entities. These transactions are primarily with the Port of Morrow, a port district located
in Morrow County, Oregon, and the Idaho Energy Resources Authority (IERA), an independent public
instrumentality of the State of Idaho, for transmission facilities, including lines, substations and general plant
assets. These financial liabilities are paid from the rental payments made by BPA. The facilities are not security
for the payment of these obligations. The lease-purchase agreements contain provisions that allow BPA to
purchase the related assets at any time during each lease term for a bargain purchase price plus the value of
the related outstanding debt instrument. During fiscal year 2025, BPA recorded a loss of $0.3 million when
certain lease-purchase liabilities were extinguished via the issuance of long-term debt. During fiscal year 2024,
BPA recorded gains of $2.1 million when certain lease-purchase liabilities were extinguished via the issuance
of long-term debt.

Under the Lease-Purchase Program, BPA consolidates one special purpose corporation, Northwest
Infrastructure Financing Corporation, or NIFC. (See Note 9, Variable Interest Entities.) As of Sept. 30, 2025, and
2024, the NIFC had $119.6 million of bonds outstanding, including debt issuance costs. The rental payments
from BPA are pledged to the payment of the debt, but the facilities do not secure the debt. The NIFC bonds are
reported as NIFC debt and are subject to redemption by NIFC, in whole or in part, at any date, at the higher of
the principal amount of the bonds or the present value of the bonds discounted using the U.S. Treasury rate
plus a premium of 12.5 basis points.

On the Combined Balance Sheets, the Lease-Purchase liability and NIFC debt are included in Nonfederal debt.
The related assets are included in Utility plant and in Deferred charges and other for unspent funds held in trust
accounts outside the Bonneville Fund.

Finance lease liability

Included among this liability are finance lease agreements for transmission lines and equipment. The related
assets are recorded as completed plant. For additional information regarding finance leases, see Note 4,
Leases.

Other financial liability

This agreement is with a transmission customer. BPA is deemed the accounting owner of the assets, which are
included in Utility plant on the Combined Balance Sheets. The agreement contains provisions that allow BPA
to purchase the related assets at any time during the contract term, with ownership transferring to BPA at the
end of the term.
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Customer prepaid power purchases

During fiscal year 2013, BPA entered into agreements with four regional COUs for the advance payment of
portions of their power purchases. Under this program, customers purchased prepaid power in blocks through
fiscal year 2028. For each block purchased, BPA repays the prepayment, with interest, as monthly fixed credits
on the customers’ power bills.

In March 2013, BPA received $340 million representing $474.3 million in scheduled credits for blocks
purchased by customers. BPA accounts for the prepayment proceeds as a financing transaction and reports
the value of the obligations associated with the fixed credits as a prepayment liability. Interest expense is
recognized using a weighted-average effective interest rate of 4.5%. The prepaid liability is reduced and the
credits are applied as power is delivered through fiscal year 2028.

FEDERAL DEBT AND APPROPRIATIONS

Borrowings from U.S. Treasury

BPA is authorized by Congress to issue and sell bonds to the U.S. Treasury and to have outstanding at any
time up to $13.70 billion aggregate principal amount of bonds. Beginning in fiscal year 2028, an additional

$4 billion of U.S. Treasury borrowing authority will be available. Of the $13.70 billion in borrowing authority
currently available, $1.25 billion is available for electric power conservation and renewable resources, including
capital investment at the FCRPS hydroelectric facilities owned by the USACE and Reclamation, and

$12.45 billion is available for BPA's transmission capital program and to implement BPA'’s authorities under the
Northwest Power Act. Of the total U.S. Treasury borrowing authority available at any one time ($13.70 billion
through fiscal year 2027 and $17.70 billion beginning in fiscal year 2028), $750 million can be issued to finance
Northwest Power Act-related expenses. The interest on BPA’s outstanding bonds is set at rates comparable
to rates on debt issued by other comparable federal government institutions at the time of issuance. Bonds
can be issued with call options.

As of Sept. 30, 2025, and 2024, no bonds outstanding were related to Northwest Power Act expenses.

As of Sept. 30, 2025, $1.46 billion of variable-rate bonds are callable by BPA at par value on their interest
repricing dates, which occurs every three or six months. The remaining $4.79 billion of bonds are callable by
BPA at a premium or discount, which is calculated based on the current government agency rates for the
remaining term to maturity at the time the bonds are called. As of Sept. 30, 2024, $392.1 million of variable-
rate bonds were outstanding.

In fiscal year 2025, BPA called $724.2 million of bonds it had previously issued to the U.S. Treasury. As a
result, BPA recognized a net gain of $238.7 million to Other, net in the Combined Statements of Revenues
and Expenses. This net gain was comprised of $241.2 million in gains, offset by $2.5 million in losses. In
fiscal year 2024, BPA called $274.1 million of bonds it had previously issued to the U.S. Treasury and
recognized a related net loss of $0.1 million to Other, net in the Combined Statements of Revenues and
Expenses. In fiscal year 2023, BPA called $322.9 million of bonds it had previously issued to the U.S.
Treasury, and recognized a related net gain of $5 million to Other, net in the Combined Statements of
Revenues and Expenses.

Federal appropriations

Federal appropriations reflect the responsibility that BPA has to repay the U.S. Treasury for congressionally
appropriated amounts in the FCRPS. Federal appropriations repayment obligations consist of the remaining
unpaid power portion of USACE and Reclamation capital investments funded through congressional
appropriations. These include appropriations for the Columbia River Fish Mitigation program as allocated to
the power purpose of the USACE’s FCRPS hydroelectric projects. BPA’s repayment obligation begins when
capital investments are completed and placed into service, unless directed otherwise by specific legislation.

BPA is obligated to establish rates to repay appropriations for federal generation and transmission plant
investments within a specified repayment period, which is the reasonably expected service life of the facilities,
not to exceed 50 years. Federal appropriations may be repaid early without penalty at their par value (i.e.,

58 — BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION



carrying value for federal appropriations) as part of BPA’s payment to the U.S. Treasury. BPA repaid
appropriations earlier than their due dates in fiscal years 2025 and 2024. BPA establishes schedules for the
repayment of federal appropriations when it establishes its power and transmission rates. These schedules
can change depending on whether appropriations have been prepaid or deferred. Interest on appropriated
amounts begins accruing when the related assets are placed into service, unless repayment obligation is

deferred by specific legislation.
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As of Sept. 30 — millions of dollars

2026 $ 6247 $ 10.7 131.0 — 3 766.4
2027 532.9 9.2 181.0 — 723.1
2028 677.1 7.3 324.8 — 1,009.2
2029 165.4 7.1 331.0 — 503.5
2030 306.1 6.8 295.0 — 607.9
2031 and thereafter 5,447.9 157.1 4,982.7 1,775.0 12,362.7
Total $ 7,7541 $ 198.2 6,245.5 1,7750 $ 15,972.8
Less: Executory costs 26 — — — 2.6
Less: Amount representing interest 723.4 97.5 — — 820.9
Less: Unamortized debt issuance cost 243 — — — 243
Plus: Unamortized premiums 390.8 — — — 390.8
Present value of debt 7,394.6 100.7 6,245.5 1,775.0 15,515.8
Less: Current portion 565.6 6.2 131.0 — 702.8
Long-term debt $ 6,829.0 $ 94.5 6,114.5 1,7750 $ 14,813.0

FAIR VALUE OF DEBT AND APPROPRIATIONS

See Note 13, Fair Value Measurements, for a comparison of carrying value to fair value for debt. Due to the
current par value call provision on BPA'’s federal appropriations, the fair value of BPA's federal appropriations
is equal to the carrying value. This call provision allows BPA to prepay appropriations repayment obligations
without premiums or a mark-to-market adjustment.
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9. Variable Interest Entities

A VIE is an entity that does not have sufficient equity at risk to finance its activities without additional financial
support or whose equity investors lack characteristics of a controlling financial interest. An enterprise that has
a controlling interest is known as the VIE’s primary beneficiary and is required to consolidate the VIE.

Management reviews executed lease-purchase agreements with nonfederal entities for VIE accounting impacts.
BPA has determined that NIFC is a VIE and that BPA is the primary beneficiary of NIFC. As such, this entity is
consolidated. The key factors in this determination are BPA'’s ability to take contractual actions that significantly
impact the economic, commercial and operating activities of NIFC and BPA'’s obligation to absorb losses that
could be significant to NIFC. Additionally, BPA’s lease-purchase agreement with NIFC obligates BPA to absorb
the operational and commercial risks, and thus potentially significant benefits or losses associated with the
underlying transmission facilities. BPA also has exclusive use and control of the facilities during the lease period
and has indemnified NIFC for all construction and operating risks associated with its transmission facilities.

Amounts related to NIFC include Lease-Purchase trust funds and other assets of $20.7 million and

$20.6 million and Nonfederal debt of $119.2 million and $119.1 million as of Sept. 30, 2025, and 2024,
respectively. BPA has also entered into lease-purchase agreements with Port of Morrow and IERA, which are
nonfederal entities. These entities are governmental and, in accordance with VIE accounting guidance, are
therefore not consolidated into the FCRPS financial statements. (See Note 8, Debt and Appropriations.)

BPA has entered into power purchase agreements with wind farm-related VIEs, which, because of their pricing
arrangements, provide that BPA absorb commodity price risk from the perspective of the counterparty entities.
However, BPA management has concluded that in no instance does BPA have the power to control the most
significant operating and maintenance activities of these entities. Therefore, BPA is not the primary beneficiary
and does not consolidate these entities. Additionally, BPA does not provide, and does not plan to provide, any
additional financial support to these entities beyond what BPA is contractually obligated to pay. Thus, BPA has
no exposure to loss on contracts with these VIEs. Expenses related to VIEs for which BPA is not the primary
beneficiary were $8.2 million, $7.8 million and $9.5 million in fiscal years 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
These expenses were recorded to operations and maintenance as BPA management considers the related
purchases to be part of the FCRPS resource pool.
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10. Residential Exchange Program

BACKGROUND

In 1981 and as provided in the Northwest Power Act, BPA began to implement the Residential Exchange
Program (REP) through various contracts with eligible regional utility customers. BPA’s implementation of
the REP has been the subject of various litigations and settlement agreements.

REP SCHEDULED AMOUNTS
As of Sept. 30 — millions of dollars

2026 $ 286.1
2027 286.1
2028 286.1
Subtotal of annual payments 858.3
Less: Discount for present value 39.5
IOU exchange benefits $ 818.8

2012 RESIDENTIAL EXCHANGE PROGRAM SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

Beginning in April 2010, over 50 litigants and other regional parties entered into mediation to resolve
numerous disputes over the REP. In fiscal year 2011 the parties reached a final settlement agreement — the
2012 Residential Exchange Program Settlement Agreement (2012 REP Settlement Agreement). As a result
of the settlement, BPA recorded an associated long-term IOU exchange benefits liability and corresponding
regulatory asset of $3.07 billion. Under the 2012 REP Settlement Agreement, the IOUs’ REP benefits were
determined for fiscal years 2012 - 2028 (also referred to herein as Scheduled Amounts). The Scheduled
Amounts started at $182.1 million for fiscal year 2012 and increase over time to $286.1 million for fiscal

year 2028. As provided in the 2012 REP Settlement Agreement, the Scheduled Amounts are established for
each IOU based on the IOU’s average system cost, its residential exchange load and BPA'’s applicable Priority
Firm Exchange rate. The Scheduled Amounts total $4.07 billion over the 17-year period through fiscal

year 2028, with remaining Scheduled Amounts as of Sept. 30, 2025, totaling $858.3 million. Amounts
recorded of $818.8 million at Sept. 30, 2025, represent the present value of future cash outflows for these IOU
exchange benefits.
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11. Deferred Credits and Other

Deferred Credits and Other include the following items:

As of Sept. 30 — millions of dollars 2025 2024
Interconnection agreements $ 332.0 $ 282.3
Phase 2 Implementation Plan (P2IP) Settlement Agreement 221.8 232.5
Irrigation assistance 197.7 214.3
Deferred project revenue funded in advance 158.6 142.3
Unearned revenue from customer deposits 101.4 73.9
Third AC Intertie capacity agreements 79.9 80.2
Service deposits 76.7 79.3
Operating leases 73.4 86.8
Federal Employees’ Compensation Act 20.0 21.0
Commercial readiness deposits 12.9 —
Fiber optic leasing fees 51 5.5
Radio Spectrum 2.5 —
Derivative instruments 2.3 1.7
Other 21 1.8
Resilient Columbia Basin Agreement - Six Sovereigns — 91.0

Total $ 1,286.4 $ 1,312.6

“Interconnection agreements” are advances for requested new network upgrades and interconnections. These
advances accrue interest and will be returned as cash or credits against future transmission service on the new or
upgraded lines.

“Phase 2 Implementation Plan (P2IP) Settlement Agreement” represents the undiscounted long-term portion of
future payments to be made to certain Upper Columbia River tribes as agreed to in the P2IP Settlement
Agreement signed in September 2023. Per the terms of the agreement, BPA will provide $10 million per year,
beginning in fiscal year 2024 for the 20-year duration of the agreement, for a total of $200 million (adjusted for
inflation). These funds are to be used to test the feasibility of, and ultimately reintroduce salmon in blocked habitats
in the Upper Columbia River Basin. The Settlement Agreement became effective in October 2023 upon the pause
of the related tribal litigation.

“Irrigation assistance” represents the long-term portion of future payments to be made to the U.S. Treasury in
connection with the original construction costs of certain Pacific Northwest irrigation facilities. Amounts owed are
representative of construction costs that are deemed to be beyond the irrigators ability to pay. (For further
information, see Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Note 5, Effects of Regulation.)

“Deferred project revenue funded in advance” consists of third-party advances received where BPA will own the
resulting transmission assets. The balance is amortized as other revenue not with customers over the life of the
assets, so that the balance prevents any stranded costs in case of impairment as prescribed by the transmission
rate process.

“Unearned revenue from customer deposits” consists of advances received from customers for projects or studies
undertaken at their request. Revenue is recognized as expenditures are incurred. (See Note 2, Revenue
Recognition.)

“Third AC Intertie capacity agreements” reflect unearned revenue from customers related to the Third AC Intertie
transmission line capacity project. Revenue is recognized over an estimated 51-year life of the related assets,
which are generally added and retired each year. (See Note 2, Revenue Recognition.)

“Service deposits” reflect required deposits for BPA products or services. The majority of these amounts are
expected to be returned to the customer after a period of service.

“Operating leases” consists of long-term lease liabilities. (See Note 4, Leases.)

“Federal Employees’ Compensation Act’ reflects the actuarial estimated amount of future payments for current
recipients of BPA’'s worker compensation benefits.
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“Commercial readiness deposits” are deposits received from transmission customers in lieu of providing evidence
of certain commercial readiness milestones during various stages of the transmission interconnection process.
These commercial readiness deposits do not accrue interest and will be returned once a customer provides
evidence of meeting certain commercial readiness milestones, withdraws from the interconnection queue or
executes an interconnection agreement.

“Fiber optic leasing fees” reflect unearned revenue related to the leasing of fiber optic cables. BPA recognizes
revenue over the lease terms, which extend through 2026. (See Note 2, Revenue Recognition.)

“‘Radio Spectrum’ reflects the remaining balance of additional Spectrum Relocation Funds received in fiscal year
2025 to reimburse BPA for the costs of further telecommunications relocation studies. For more information,
see Note 7, Deferred Charges and Other.

“Derivative instruments” reflect the unrealized loss of the derivative portfolio, which primarily includes physical
power purchase and sale transactions.

“Resilient Columbia Basin Agreement — Six Sovereigns’” represented the undiscounted long-term portion of
future payments BPA expected to make to certain Lower Columbia River tribes and States (collectively known as
the Six Sovereigns) in alignment with the settlement agreement signed in December 2023. However, in June 2025,
BPA derecognized this liability and the associated regulatory asset to comply with a Presidential Memorandum.
For more information, see Note 5, Effects of Regulation.

12. Risk Management and Derivative Instruments

BPA is exposed to various forms of market risks related to commodity prices and volumes, counterparty credit
and interest rates. Non-performance risk, which includes credit risk, is described in Note 13, Fair Value
Measurements. BPA has formal risk management processes in place to manage agency risks, including the
use of derivative instruments. The following sections describe BPA’s exposure to and management of certain
risks.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Due to the operational risk posed by fluctuations in river flows and electricity market prices, net revenues that
result from underlying surplus or deficit energy positions are inherently uncertain. BPA’s Risk Oversight
Committee has responsibility for the oversight of market risk and determines the transactional risk policy and
control environment at BPA. Through simulation and analysis of the hydro supply system, experienced
business and risk managers install market price risk measures to capture additional market-related risks,
including credit and event risk.

COMMODITY PRICE RISK AND VOLUMETRIC RISK

BPA has exposure to commodity price risk through fluctuations in electricity market prices that affect the value
of energy bought and sold. Volumetric risk is the uncertainty of energy production from the hydro system. The
combination of the two results in net revenue uncertainty. BPA routinely models commodity price risk and
volumetric risk through parametric calculations, Monte Carlo simulations and general market observations to
derive net revenues at risk, mark-to-market valuations, value at risk and other metrics as appropriate. These
metrics capture the uncertainty around single point forecasts in order to monitor changes in the revenue risk
profile from changes in market price, market price volatility and forecasted hydro generation. BPA measures
and monitors the output of these methods on a regular basis. In order to mitigate revenue uncertainty that is
beyond BPA's risk tolerance, BPA enters into short-term and long-term purchase and sale contracts by using
instruments such as forwards, futures, swaps, and options.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk relates to the loss that might occur as a result of counterparty non-performance. BPA mitigates
credit risk by reviewing counterparties for creditworthiness, establishing credit limits and monitoring credit
exposure. To further manage credit risk, BPA obtains credit support, such as letters of credit, parental
guarantees, and cash in the form of prepayments, deposits or escrow funds, from some counterparties. BPA
monitors counterparties for changes in financial condition and regularly updates credit reviews. BPA uses
scoring models, publicly available financial information and external ratings from major credit rating agencies to
determine appropriate levels of credit for its counterparties.
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During fiscal year 2025, BPA experienced no material losses as a result of any customer defaults or bankruptcy
filings. As of Sept. 30, 2025, BPA had $39.2 million in credit exposure related to purchase and sale contracts after
taking into account netting rights. Of this $39.2 million, $26.9 million was related to investment grade
counterparties and $12.3 million was related to sub-investment grade counterparties who provided letters of
credit, cash collateral, or a combination of both. The letters of credit and collateral serve as a guarantee
arrangement and mitigate BPA'’s credit risk exposure to these counterparties.

INTEREST RATE RISK

BPA has the ability to issue variable rate bonds to the U.S. Treasury. BPA may manage the interest rate risk
presented by variable rate U.S. Treasury debt by holding U.S. Treasury security investments with a similar
maturity profile. Such investments may earn interest that is correlated, but typically lower than, the interest rate
paid on U.S. Treasury variable rate debt.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Commodity Contracts

BPA'’s forward electricity contracts are eligible for the normal purchases and normal sales exception if they
require physical delivery, are expected to be used or sold by BPA in the normal course of business and meet
the derivative accounting definition of capacity described in the derivatives and hedging accounting guidance.
Transactions for which BPA has elected the normal purchases and normal sales exception are not recorded at
fair value in the financial statements. Recognition of these contracts in Sales or Purchased power in the
Combined Statements of Revenues and Expenses occurs when the contracts are delivered and settled.

For derivative instruments recorded at fair value, BPA offsets unrealized gains and losses as Regulatory assets
and Regulatory liabilities on the Combined Balance Sheets. Realized gains and losses are included in Sales
and Purchased power in the Combined Statements of Revenues and Expenses and under the Net revenues
(expenses) caption within the operating activities section of the Combined Statements of Cash Flows when the
contracts are delivered and settled.

When available, quoted market prices or prices obtained through external sources are used to measure a
contract’s fair value. For contracts without available quoted market prices, fair value is determined based on
internally developed modeled prices. (See Note 13, Fair Value Measurements.)

As of Sept. 30, 2025, the derivative commodity contracts recorded at fair value totaled 2.4 million megawatt
hours (MWh), gross basis, with delivery months extending to September 2026.

On the Combined Balance Sheets, BPA reports net fair value amounts of derivative instruments subject to a
master netting arrangement (excluding contracts designated as normal purchases or normal sales) in
accordance with ASC 210 and 815. In the event of default or termination, contracts with the same
counterparty are offset and net settle through a single payment. BPA does not offset cash collateral against
recognized derivative instruments with the same counterparty under the master netting arrangements.

If reported gross, BPA'’s derivative position would have resulted in assets of $10.2 million and $20 million,
and liabilities of $3.4 million and $2.9 million as of Sept. 30, 2025, and 2024, respectively. (See Note 5,
Effects of Regulation.)
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13. Fair Value Measurements

BPA applies fair value measurements and disclosures accounting guidance to certain assets and liabilities
including assets held in trust funds, commodity derivative instruments, debt and other items. BPA maximizes
the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. Fair
value is based on actively quoted market prices, if available. In the absence of actively quoted market prices,
BPA seeks price information from external sources, including broker quotes and industry publications. If
pricing information from external sources is not available, BPA uses forward price curves derived from
internal models based on perceived pricing relationships to major trading hubs.

BPA also utilizes the following fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to
measure fair value, into three broad levels:

Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that BPA has the
ability to access at the measurement date. Instruments categorized in Level 1 primarily consist of financial
instruments such as exchange-traded financial futures, fixed income investments, equity mutual funds and
money market funds.

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly
observable for the asset or liability, including quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets,
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, inputs other than quoted prices
that are observable for the asset or liability, and inputs that are derived from observable market data by
correlation or other means. Instruments categorized in Level 2 include certain non-exchange traded commodity
derivatives. Fair value for certain non-exchange traded derivatives is based on forward exchange market
prices and broker quotes adjusted and discounted.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, including situations where there is little, if any,
market activity for the asset or liability.

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets (Level 1) and the lowest
priority to unobservable data (Level 3). In some cases, the inputs used to measure fair value might fall in
different levels of the fair value hierarchy. The lowest level input that is significant to a fair value measurement
in its entirety determines the applicable level in the fair value hierarchy. Assessing the significance of a
particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, considering factors specific to
the asset or liability.

BPA includes non-performance risk when calculating fair value measurements. This includes a credit risk
adjustment based on the credit spreads of BPA’s counterparties when in an unrealized gain position. BPA’s
assessment of non-performance risk is generally derived from the credit default swap market and from bond
market credit spreads. The impact of the credit risk adjustments for all outstanding derivatives was
immaterial to the fair value calculation at Sept. 30, 2025, and 2024. There were no transfers between Level 2
and Level 3 during fiscal years 2025 and 2024.

2025 ANNUAL REPORT - 65



ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS

As of Sept. 30, 2025 — millions of dollars

Level Level Level
1 2 3 Total
Assets
Nonfederal nuclear decommissioning trusts

Equity securities $ 597.6 $ — $ — $ 5976

Debt securities 101.6 — — 101.6

Cash and cash equivalents 14.9 — — 14.9
Derivative instruments '

Commodity contracts — 4.6 45 9.1
Transmission line-related receivables — — 10.4 10.4
Total $ 7141 $ 46 $ 149 § 7336
Liabilities
Derivative instruments '

Commodity contracts $ (09 % (1.4) $ — (2.3)
Total $ (0.9) $ (1.4) $ — (2.3)
As of Sept. 30, 2024 — millions of dollars
Assets
Nonfederal nuclear decommissioning trusts

Equity securities $ 516.4 $ — $ — $ 5164

Debt securities 89.9 — — 89.9

Cash and cash equivalents 17.2 — — 17.2
Derivative instruments '

Commodity contracts 0.8 25 15.5 18.8
Transmission line-related receivables — — 10.4 10.4
Total $ 624.3 $ 25 $ 259 $ 6527
Liabilities
Derivative instruments '

Commodity contracts $ — $ (17 S — 3 (1.7)
Total $ — $ (1.7) $ —  $ (1.7)

' Derivative instruments assets and liabilities are included in Deferred charges and other and Deferred credits and other,
respectively, on the Combined Balance Sheets. See Note 12, Risk Management and Derivative Instruments for more
information related to BPA’s risk management strategy and use of derivative instruments.

Commodity contracts assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 consist of instruments for which fair value is
derived using one or more significant inputs that are not observable for the entire term of the instrument. These
instruments consist of power contracts measured at fair value on a recurring basis using the California-Oregon
Border (COB) forward price curves. They include power contracts delivering to illiquid trading points or
contracts without available market transactions for the entire delivery period. Forward prices are considered a
key component to contract valuations. All valuation pricing data is generated internally by BPA'’s risk
management organization.
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Quantitative information regarding the only significant unobservable input used in the measurement of Level 3
commodity contract assets and liabilities is presented below:

Fair Value Valuation Significant Range (per MWh)
o Technique Unobservable ) Weighted
Assets'  Liabilities' echniq Input Low High Average
(in millions)
As of Sept. 30, 2025
Physical forward 45 $ . Discounted EIgctnmty forward $ 348 $ 871 $ 620
power contracts cash flow price
As of Sept. 30, 2024
Physical forward 155 § . Discounted EIgctnmty forward $ 208 $ 1248 $ 853
power contracts cash flow price

"The valuation techniques, unobservable inputs and ranges are the same for asset and liability positions

The significant unobservable input listed above is used by the risk management organization to construct the
fair value through the use of available market prices, broker quotes and bid/offer spreads. In periods where
market prices or broker quotes are not available, the risk management organization derives monthly prices by
applying seasonal shaping based on historical broker quotes and spreads. Long-term prices are derived from
internally developed or commercial models with both internal and external data inputs. BPA management
believes this approach maximizes the use of pricing information from external sources and is currently the best
option for valuation. Significant increases or decreases in the inputs would result in significantly higher or lower
fair value measurements.

Forward power prices are influenced by, among other factors, the price of natural gas, seasonality, hydro
forecasts, expectations of demand growth, and planned changes in the regional generating plants.

Transmission line-related receivables classified as Level 3 consist of a set of contracts executed between BPA
and IPC governing the Purchase, Sale and Security provisions related to the transfer of BPA'’s permitting
interest share in the proposed Boardman-to-Hemingway transmission line to IPC. (For further information on
this transaction, see Note 7, Deferred Charges and Other.) These contracts determine whether, when and how
much of BPA’s contributions towards project security, initial design and permitting will be returned to BPA.

Significant unobservable inputs related to the Transmission line-related receivable asset are the occurrence of
certain contingent contractual provisions and the energization of the underlying transmission line. These
assessments result in expectations concerning specific future cash flows, which are currently estimated to
occur between 2028 and 2047.

The following table presents the changes in the assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring
basis and included in the Level 3 fair value category.

As of Sept. 30 — millions of dollars 2025 2024

Beginning Balance $ 25.9 $ 215
Changes in unrealized gains (losses)’ (11.0) 4.4

Ending Balance $ 14.9 $ 25.9

TUnrealized gains and losses are included in Regulatory assets and Regulatory liabilities on the Combined Balance Sheets.
Realized gains and losses are included in Sales and Purchased power, respectively, in the Combined Statements of Revenues
and Expenses.
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DEBT

As of Sept. 30 — millions of dollars 2025 2024
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Value Value Value Value
Nonfederal Debt
Nonfederal generation:
Columbia Generating Station $ 3,702.4 $ 3,660.4 $ 3,434.4 $ 3,438.7
Cowlitz Falls Project 42.4 42.5 47.3 47.4
Terminated nonfederal generation:
Nuclear Project 1 815.6 830.1 829.0 840.7
Nuclear Project 3 960.9 985.1 967.4 1,004.3
Northern Wasco Hydro Project — — 1.9 1.9
Lease-Purchase Program:
Lease-purchase liability 1,653.6 1,376.7 1,671.7 1,408.5
NIFC debt 119.2 127.4 1191 129.8
Other financial liability 14.8 8.8 15.4 9.5
Customer prepaid power purchases 85.7 85.7 111.7 111.7
Federal debt
Borrowings from U.S. Treasury $ 6,245.5 $ 5,707.2 $ 5,960.7 $ 5,349.1

The fair value measurements described above are considered Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value of Nonfederal debt, excluding Other financial liability and Customer prepaid power purchases, is
primarily based on a market input evaluation pricing methodology using a combination of market observable

data such as current market trade data, reported bid/ask spreads and institutional bid information.

The fair value of Other financial liability is based upon discounted future cash flows using estimated interest
rates for similar debt that could have been issued at Sept. 30, 2025, and 2024.

The opportunity to participate in the Customer prepaid power purchase program was made to a subset of BPA’s
power customers with repayment terms through billing credits extending to fiscal year 2028. Management
believes that the customer prepaid power purchases are specific to BPA’s operating environment and are
nontransferable. As a result, the carrying value of customer prepaid power purchases is equal to its fair value.

The fair value of Borrowings from U.S. Treasury is based on discounted future cash flows using interest rates

for similar debt that could have been issued at Sept. 30, 2025, and 2024.

The table above does not include Finance lease liabilities, a component of BPA's nonfederal debt. See Note 8,

Debt and Appropriations, for the full carrying value of BPA’s debt portfolio.
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14. Commitments and Contingencies
INTEGRATED FISH AND WILDLIFE PROGRAM

The Northwest Power Act directs BPA to protect, mitigate and enhance fish and wildlife to the extent they are
affected by the federal hydroelectric projects on the Columbia River and its tributaries from which BPA markets
power. BPA makes expenditures and incurs other costs for fish and wildlife protection and mitigation that are
consistent with the purposes of the Northwest Power Act and the Pacific Northwest Power and Conservation
Council’s Columbia River Basin Fish and Wildlife Program. In addition, certain fish and wildlife species that
inhabit the Columbia River Basin are listed under the Endangered Species Act (ESA) as threatened or
endangered. BPA makes expenditures and incurs other costs related to power purposes to comply with the
ESA and implement certain biological opinions (BiOp) prepared by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration Fisheries Service and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service in furtherance of the ESA (including
results from the Columbia River System Operations (CRSO) Environmental Impact Statement). BPA'’s total
commitment including timing of payments under the Northwest Power Act, ESA and BiOp, including CRSO
Environmental Impact Statement impacts, is not fixed or determinable.

As of Sept. 30, 2025, BPA has long-term fish and wildlife agreements with estimated commitments of
$376 million, as described below, which excludes the Columbia Basin Fish Accords. BPA anticipates these
agreements will result in future expenses or regulatory assets in the future as work progresses by the
agreement partners in accordance with contractual terms.

In fiscal year 2024, and as a result of commitments made in the September 2023 P2IP Settlement Agreement,
BPA signed two separate 10-year agreements with the Spokane Tribe of Indians and Coeur d’Alene Tribe to
implement projects that promote the protection and restoration of fish and wildlife in the upper Columbia River
Basin. Together these agreements originally committed approximately $311 million, after adjustment for
inflation, expire in 2033 and will result in future expenses or regulatory assets. As of Sept. 30, 2025,
approximately $291 million is available under these agreements.

Additionally, in October 2024 BPA signed an agreement with the Kalispel Tribe of Indians which committed
approximately $89 million through Sept. 30, 2034. As of Sept. 30, 2025, approximately $85 million is available
under this agreement.

Columbia Basin Fish Accords

The Columbia Basin Fish Accord agreements expired Sept. 30, 2025. BPA anticipates that much of the fish
and wildlife mitigation that had previously been funded under the Accords will continue as part of BPA’s annual
implementation of the Fish and Wildlife Program. This ongoing mitigation will be funded through the BPA Fish
and Wildlife Program’s standard annual budget and procurement award processes. In addition, it is BPA’s
intent that certain of these projects (or other appropriate fish and wildlife mitigation actions that BPA may agree
to) may also be eligible to receive a portion of up to approximately $51 million that was committed but not
expended over the life of the Accords. Disbursement of such funds would depend on BPA's final agreement
with the specific mitigation work proposed for implementation.

DAY AHEAD MARKET PARTICIPATION

In fiscal year 2025, BPA committed to fund Phase 2 of Southwest Power Pool's Markets+, which will include
remaining development through the market go-live. If the Markets+ effort does not continue, for reasons
including but not limited to SPP ceasing to offer a day-head market, BPA will be responsible for its
proportionate share of development costs incurred up to the time of termination. As of Sept. 30, 2025, this
amount was not to exceed $36.1 million. BPA has not recorded a liability in connection with this Phase 2
Markets+ funding commitment as no present obligation to repay these implementation costs exists.
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FIRM PURCHASE POWER COMMITMENTS

Years ended Sept. 30 — millions of dollars

2026 $ 32.2
2027 32.7
2028 35.7
2029 35.5
2030 36.6
2031 34.6
Total $ 207.3

BPA periodically enters into long-term commitments to purchase power for future delivery. When BPA forecasts
a resource shortage, based on its planned contractual obligations for a period and the historical water record
for the Columbia River basin, BPA takes a variety of operational and business steps to cover a potential
shortage including entering into power purchase commitments. Additionally, under BPA's current Tiered Rates
Methodology and its current Regional Dialogue power sales contracts, BPA's customers may request that BPA
meet their power requirements in excess of the Rate Period High Water Mark load under their contract. For
these Above High Water Mark load requests, BPA may meet such requests by entering into power purchase
commitments.

The preceding table includes firm purchase power agreements that are currently in place to assist in meeting
expected future obligations under BPA'’s current long-term power sales contracts. Included are five purchases
to meet load obligations in Idaho through 2031. Power purchase agreements to satisfy load obligations in
Idaho utilize variable pricing. Variable pricing arrangements are based on the current market price of energy on
the date of delivery. The expenses associated with the Idaho purchases were $25.9 million, $52.1 million and
$74.9 million for fiscal years 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

BPA has several other purchase agreements with wind-powered and other generating facilities that are not
included in the preceding table as payments are based on the variable amount of future energy generated and
as there are no minimum payments required.

ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM

BPA is required by the Northwest Power Act to meet the net firm power load requirements of its customers in the
Pacific Northwest. BPA is authorized to help meet its net firm power load through the acquisition of electric
conservation. BPA makes available a portfolio of initiatives and infrastructure support activities to its customers to
ensure the conservation targets established in the Northwest Power and Conservation Council’s then-current
Power Plan are achieved. The Council released the 2021 Northwest Power Plan in fiscal year 2022. These
initiatives and activities are often executed via conservation commitments made by BPA to its customers through
agreements with utility customers and contractors that provide support in the way of energy efficiency program
research, development and implementation. The timing of the payments under these commitments is not fixed or
determinable, and these agreements will expire at various dates through fiscal year 2030. Conservation-related
expenses are recorded to operations and maintenance expense as incurred.

1989 ENERGY NORTHWEST LETTER AGREEMENT

In 1989, BPA agreed with Energy Northwest that, in the event any participant shall be unable for any reason,
or shall fail or refuse, to pay to Energy Northwest any amount due from such participant under its net billing
agreement for which a net billing credit or cash payment to such participant has been provided by BPA, BPA
will be obligated to pay the unpaid amount in cash directly to Energy Northwest. As of Sept. 30, 2025, and
2024, no amounts have been accrued related to this agreement.

NUCLEAR INSURANCE

BPA is a member of Nuclear Electric Insurance Limited (NEIL), a mutual insurance company established to
provide insurance coverage for nuclear power plants. The insurance policies purchased from NEIL by BPA for
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CGS include: 1) Property and Decontamination Liability Insurance and 2) NEIL | Accidental Outage
Insurance.

Under each insurance policy, BPA could be subject to a retrospective premium assessment in the event that
a member-insured loss exceeds reinsurance and reserves held by NEIL. The maximum assessment for the
primary layer of Property and Decontamination Liability Insurance policy is $19.5 million. For the excess layer
of the Property and Decontamination Liability Insurance policy, the maximum assessment is $6.1 million. For
the NEIL | Accidental Outage Insurance policy, the maximum assessment is $6.7 million.

Additionally, in the event of a nuclear accident resulting in public liability losses exceeding $500 million under
the Nuclear Regulatory Commission’s indemnity for public liability coverage under the Price-Anderson Act, BPA
could be subject to a retrospective assessment of up to $165.9 million limited to $24.7 million per incident
within one calendar year. Assessments would be included in BPA’s costs and recovered through rates. As of
Sept. 30, 2025, there have been no assessments payable by BPA under any of these events.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

From time to time there are sites for which BPA, the USACE or Reclamation may be identified as potential
responsible parties. If these costs are appropriately allocated to the power purpose they are recovered in BPA’s
rates. However, costs associated with cleanup of sites are not expected to be material to the FCRPS financial
statements. As such, no material liability has been recorded.

INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENTS

BPA, USACE and Reclamation have provided indemnifications of varying scope and terms in contracts with
customers, vendors, lessors, trustees, and other parties with respect to certain matters including, but not limited
to, losses arising out of particular actions taken on behalf of the FCRPS, certain circumstances related to
Energy Northwest Projects, and in connection with lease-purchases. Because of the absence of a maximum
obligation in the provisions, management is not able to reasonably estimate the overall maximum potential
future payments. Based on historical experience and current evaluation of circumstances, management
believes that as of Sept. 30, 2025, the likelihood is remote that the FCRPS would incur any significant costs
with respect to such indemnities. No liability has been recorded in the financial statements with respect to these
indemnification provisions.

RESERVES DISTRIBUTION CLAUSE

The Reserves Distribution Clause (RDC) is a rate adjustment mechanism that triggers if reserves for risk levels
exceed certain cash on hand targets at September 30 for Power Services or Transmission Services. Terms of
the RDC are discussed in the BP-24 and BP-22 rate cases, which state that the BPA Administrator shall
consider above-threshold financial reserves for debt reduction, incremental capital investment, rate reduction
through a Dividend Distribution, distribution to customers, or any Power- or Transmission-specific purposes
determined by the Administrator.

Based upon fiscal year 2025 financial results and year-end reserves for risk levels for Power and Transmission
services, neither a Power nor Transmission RDC is expected to occur for application in fiscal year 2026.

Based on fiscal year 2024 financial results and year-end reserves for risk levels for Transmission Services, a
Transmission RDC occurred for application in fiscal year 2025. BPA’s Administrator determined final amounts
and use of the Transmission RDC during fiscal year 2025, and application of RDC actions occurred between
December and September of fiscal year 2025.

As of Sept. 30, 2025, and 2024, no liability had been accrued for the RDC.
LITIGATION

Rates

BPA’s rates are frequently the subject of litigation. Most of the litigation typically involves claims that BPA'’s
rates are inconsistent with statutory directives, are not supported by substantial evidence in the record, or are
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arbitrary and capricious. It is the opinion of BPA’s general counsel that if any rate were to be rejected, the
remedy accorded would be a remand to BPA to establish a new rate. BPA’s flexibility in establishing rates
could be restricted by the rejection of a BPA rate, depending on the grounds for the rejection. BPA is unable to
predict, however, what new rate it would establish if a rate were rejected. If BPA were to establish a rate that
was lower than the rejected rate, a petitioner may be entitled to a refund in the amount overpaid; however, BPA
is required by law to set rates to meet all of its costs. Thus, it is the opinion of BPA’s general counsel that BPA
may be required to increase its rates to seek to recover the amount of any such refunds, if needed.

Other

The FCRPS may be affected by various other claims, actions and complaints, including claims regarding
litigation under the Endangered Species Act, which may include BPA as a named party. Certain of these cases
may involve material amounts including operational changes at FCRPS federal dams that may restrict
hydroelectric generation. Management is unable to predict whether the FCRPS will avoid adverse outcomes in
these legal matters.

Judgments and settlements are included in FCRPS costs and recovered through rates. As of Sept. 30, 2025,
no material liability has been recorded for the above legal matters.
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Revenue requirement study

The submission of BPA's annual report fulfills the reporting
requirements of the Grand Coulee Dam — Third Powerplant Act,
Public Law 89-448. The revenue requirement study demonstrates
repayment of federal investment. It reflects revenues and

costs consistent with BPA's 2024 Final Wholesale Power and
Transmission Rate Proposals of July 2023, for fiscal years 2024
and 2025. (See BP-24-FS-BPA-02 for Power and
BP-24-FS-BPA-06 for Transmission.) The final proposals filed with
FERC contain the official amortization schedule for the rate
periods. FERC granted final approval to the Power Rates Schedules
and the Transmission, Ancillary and Control Area Service Rate
Schedules on March 6, 2024.

Repayment demonstration

BPA is required by Public Law 89-448 to demonstrate that
reimbursable costs of the FCRPS will be returned to the

U.S. Treasury from BPA net revenues within the period prescribed
by law. BPA is required to make a similar demonstration for the
costs of irrigation projects that are beyond the ability of irrigation
water users to repay. These requirements are met by conducting
power repayment studies including schedules of payments at the
proposed rates to demonstrate repayment of principal within
the allowable repayment period.

Since 1985, BPA has prepared separate repayment demonstra-
tions for generation and transmission in accordance with
an order issued by FERC on Jan. 27, 1984 (26 FERC 61,096).

Repayment policy

BPA’s repayment policy is reflected in its generation and trans-
mission revenue requirements and respective rate levels. This
policy requires that FCRPS revenues be sufficient to:

1. Pay the cost of operating and maintaining the power system.

2. Pay the cost of obtaining power through purchase and
exchange agreements (nonfederal projects) and transmission
services that BPA is obtaining under capitalized lease-
purchase agreements.

3. Pay interest on and repay outstanding U.S. Treasury
borrowings to finance transmission system construction,
conservation, environmental, direct-funded Corps and
Reclamation improvements, and fish and wildlife projects.

4. Pay interest on the unrepaid investment in facilities financed
with appropriated funds. (Federal hydroelectric projects all
were financed with appropriated funds, as were BPA trans-
mission facilities constructed before 1978.)

5. Pay, with interest, any outstanding deferral of interest expense.

6. Repay the power investment in each federal hydroelectric
project with interest within 50 years after the project is
placed in service. Repay each increment of the investment
in the BPA transmission system financed with appropriated
funds with interest within the average service life of the
associated transmission plant or 35 years, whichever is less.

7. Repay the appropriated investment in each replacement
at a federal hydroelectric project within its service life up to
a maximum of 50 years.

8. Repay irrigation investment at federal reclamation projects
assigned for payment from FCRPS revenues, after all other
elements in the priority of payments are paid and within the
same period established for irrigation water users to repay
their share of construction costs. These periods range from
40 to 66 years, with 50 years being applicable to most
of the irrigation payment assistance.

Investments bearing the highest interest rate will be repaid first,
to the extent possible, while still completing repayment of each
increment of investment within its prescribed repayment period.

Repayment obligation

BPA’s rates must be designed to collect sufficient revenues

to return separately the power and transmission costs of each
FCRPS investment and each irrigation assistance obligation
within the time prescribed by law.

If existing rates are not likely to meet this requirement

BPA must reduce costs, adjust its rates, or both. Comparing BPA's
repayment schedule for the unrepaid capital appropriations and
bonds with a “term schedule” demonstrates that the federal
investment will be repaid within the time allowed. A term schedule
represents a repayment schedule whereby each capitalized
appropriation or bond would be repaid in the year it is due.

Reporting requirements of Public Law 89-448 are met so long
as the unrepaid FCRPS investment and irrigation assistance
resulting from BPA’s repayment schedule are less than or equal
to the allowable unrepaid investment in each year. While the
comparison is illustrated by the following graphs representing
total FCRPS generation and total FCRPS transmission investment,
the actual comparison is performed on an investment-
by-investment basis.

Repayment of FCRPS investment

The graphs for Unrepaid Federal Generation and Transmission
Investment illustrate that unrepaid investment resulting from
BPA’s generation and transmission repayment schedules is less
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than the allowable unrepaid investment. This demonstrates that
BPA's rates are sufficient to recover all FCRPS investment costs
on or before their due dates.

The term schedule lines in the graphs show how much of the
obligation can remain unpaid in accordance with the repayment
periods for the generation and transmission components

of the FCRPS. The BPA repayment schedule lines show how
much of the obligation remains to be repaid according to BPA's
repayment schedules. In each year, BPA's repayment schedule

is ahead of the term schedule. This occurs because BPA plans

repayment both to comply with obligation due dates and to
minimize costs over the entire repayment study horizon

(35 years for transmission, 50 years for generation). Repaying
highest interest-bearing investments first, to the extent
possible, minimizes costs. Consequently, some investments are
repaid before their due dates while assuring that all other
obligations are repaid by their due dates. These graphs include
forecasts of system replacements during the repayment study
horizon that are necessary to maintain the existing FCRPS
generation and transmission facilities.

Unrepaid Federal Generation Investment
Includes Future Replacements
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The Unrepaid Federal Investment graph displays the total planned unrepaid FCRPS obligations compared to allowable total unrepaid
FCRPS investment, omitting future system replacements. This demonstrates that each FCRPS investment through 2025 is scheduled
to be returned to the U.S. Treasury within its repayment period and ahead of due dates.

Unrepaid Federal Investment
Excludes Future Replacements
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If, in any given year, revenues are not sufficient to cover all cash needs including interest, any deficiency becomes an unpaid annual
expense. Interest is accrued on the unpaid annual expense until paid. This must be paid from subsequent years’ revenues before

any repayment of federal appropriations can be made.
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Enterprise Board members
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Administrator Hairston signs the final beam before it is placed on top of the new Vancouver Control Center

John Hairston, Administrator and Chief Executive Officer

Suzanne Cooper, Deputy Administrator and Chief Operating Officer
Robin Furrer, Chief Administrative Officer
Michelle Cathcart, Senior Vice President, Power Services
Mike Miller, Senior Vice President, Transmission Services
Scott Armentrout, Executive Vice President, Environment, Fish and Wildlife
Melanie Spraggins, Executive Vice President, Compliance, Audit and Risk Management (acting)
Chris Wilk, Executive Vice President and Chief Information Officer
Marcus Chong Tim, Executive Vice President and General Counsel
Tom McDonald, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Jamae Hilliard Creecy, Executive Vice President, Business Management and Development
Virmania “Vee” Accoo, Director, Civil Rights and Equal Employment Office
Sonya Baskerville, Director, Intergovernmental Affairs
LaQuanna McCloud, Director, Human Resources Service Center (acting)
Scott Newlon, Chief Business Transformation Officer (acting)
Joel Scruggs, Chief Communications Officer
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